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OPINION

[ On October 31, 2014, claimant, Dallas Hamm, filed an application for adjustment of
claim {case No. 14 WC 37190) pursuant to the Workers’ Compensation Act (Act) (820 ILCS
305/1 et seq. (West 2014)), seeking benefits for an injury to his right arm on June 16, 2014,
while in the employ of respondent, Par Electric. Claimant subsequently filed two additional

applications for adjustment of claim (case Nos. 15 WC 19322 and 15 WC 19323), alleging

injuries to his right shoulder on April 1, 2015, and April 3, 2015, while working for Henkels &
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McCoy (Henkels). Following a consolidated hearing held pursuant to section 19(b) of the Act
(820 TL.CS 305/19(b) (West 2014)), the arbitrator found that claimant sustained three accidents
and that his condition of ill-being was causally related to all three accidents. In case No. 14 WC
37190, the arbitrator awarded claimant 23% weeks of temporary total disability (TTD) benefits,
covering the period from September 26, 2014, through March 11, 2015, The arbitrator also
concluded that respondent was liable for claimant’s medical expenses, but only those incurred
prior to March 11, 2015. In case Nos. 15 WC 19322 and 15 WC 19323, the arbitrator awarded
claimant 37% weeks of TTD benefits, covering the period from April 6, 2015, through the date
of the arbitration hearing, and ordered Henkels to pay medical expenses incurred after April 1,
2015, as well as prospective medical treatment.

12 Thereafter, Henkels and respondent sought review of the arbitrator’s decision before the
Illinois Workers’ Compensation Commission (Commission). In case No. 14 WC 37190, the
Commission modified the arbitrator’s decision in part, but otherwise affirmed and adopted the
decision of the arbitrator. Specifically, the Commission affirmed the arbitrator’s finding that
claimant sustained three distinct accidents on June 16, 2014, April 1, 2015, and April 3, 2015,
but determined that the two accidents sustained in April 2015 did not constitute independent
intervening accidents sufficient to break the causal connection from the initial accident.
Accordingly, the Commission concluded that claimant’s current condition of ill-being was
causally related to the June 2014 accident and that respondent was liable for all medical expenses
and benefits resulting from claimant’s injuries. In addition, the Commission remanded the cause
to the arbitrator for further proceedings pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Comm’n, 78 I1l. 2d 327

(1980). In case Nos. 15 WC 19322 and 15 WC 19323, the Commission reversed the decision of
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the arbitrator, finding that claimant failed to sustain his burden of proving a causal connection
between the April 2015 accidents and his current condition of ill-being.

13 Both respondent and claimant sought judicial review of the Commission’s decisions.
Following a hearing, the circuit court of Peoria County confirmed the decisions of the
Coml.nission. Respondent now appeals, challenging the Commission’s finding that the April
2015 accidents did not constitute intervening accidents sufficient to break the causal connection
from the June 2014 accident. We affirm.

14 I. BACKGROUND

15 The following factual recitation is taken from the evidence presented at the arbifration
hearing conducted on December 22, 201 5.

16 A. June 2014 Accident

57 Claimant testified he worked as an apprentice lineman through the International
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers. Claimant’s job duties in this position involved extensive
physical work, including restoring power, building new lines, climbing poles, and digging holes.
On June 16, 2014, claimant was assigned to work for respondent building new lines. On that
date, as claimant was getting out of a bucket lift, he slipped. Claimant attempted to catch himself
by grabbing something when he felt his right shoulder come out of the socket, resulting in a lot
of pain. Claimant and a coworker reported the accident to respondent, and claimant was taken to
the emergency room at OSF St. Francis Medical Center (OSF). Claimant testified that prior to
June 16, 2014, he had not experienced any problems with his right shoulder while working for
respondent.

18  In the emergency room, claimant provided a consistent history of the accident to the staff

at OSF. An X-ray taken at the hospital was normal. Dr. Edward Moody treated claimant and

-3-



2018 IL App (3d) 170656WC

diagnosed a right rotator cuff strain. Claimant was placed on modified duty and eventually
underwent a course of physical therapy. Nevertheless, claimant continued to experience pain
with overhead activity and certain shoulder motions, As a result, Dr. Moody ordered an MRI of
the right shoulder. The MRIJ, taken on August 5, 2014, suggested a diffuse labral tear but no
rotator cuff tear. Dr. Moody referred claimant to Dr. Lawrence Li, an orthopaedic surgeon, for
further treatment.

9  Claimant first presented to Dr. Li on August 14, 2014, After examining claimant and
reviewing the MRI, Dr. Li diagnosed a right shoulder labral tear due to dislocation. He
recommended surgical repair. Meanwhile, claimant remained on light duty until September 26,
2014, at which time Dr. Li performed a right shoulder arthroscopy with debridement of extensive
tenosynovitis and repair of a capsulolabral Bankart-type separation. Postoperative treatment
included a cortisone injection and an extensive course of physical therapy. By mid-January 2015,
claimant reported to the physical therapist that the pain in his right shoulder was at level two on a
ten-point scale.

110  On January 21, 2015, claimant underwent a functional capacity evaluation (FCE), which
was considered valid with claimant providing maximum effort. Claimant reported discomfort in
the anterior right shoulder during certain exercises, but the pain decreased once the activity
ceased. Identified physical limitations included right shoulder pain, right shoulder strength
deficits, bilateral hip range of motion deficits, and general deconditioning stemming from being
off work since the date of injury. The therapist concluded that claimant was able to operate
consistently at the medium physical-demand level with rare work in the heavy physical-demand
level. He noted, however, that claimant’s physical abilities did not match the requirements of his

job and that claimant’s physical limitations presented a barrier to returning to work unless
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modifications could be made. The therapist recommended a work-conditioning program, which
claimant began on January 26, 2015.

€11  On February 26, 2015, claimant was evaluated by Dr. George Paletta. At that time,
claimant was still experiencing mild discomfort to the anterior aspect of the shoulder, but
reported making significant improvement in work conditioning. Dr. Paletta documented that
claimant had a previous shoulder problem when he was in eighth grade, but once claimant
underwent surgery and the injury healed, he had not had any problems with it. Upon physical
examination, Dr. Paletta noted that claimant demonstrated minimal motion losses, excellent
strength and function, and good stability. Dr. Paletta’s impression was “[dJoing well status post
arthroscopy with anterior stabilization and Bankart repair.” He recommended an additional two
weeks of work conditioning, followed by a return to full-duty work without restriction or
limitation. Dr. Paletta opined that claimant’s right shoulder condition was causally related to the
Tune 2014 work accident.

q12 Claimant was discharged from work conditioning on March 10, 2015. At that time, the
therapist recorded that claimant had progressed rapidly during the final three weeks of work
conditioning, had met all of his goals, and was prepared to return to work full duty. On March
11, 2015, Dr. Li released claimant to full duty without restrictions and instructed him to follow
up in four weeks. Claimant testified that although his shoulder had progressed, it was still weak
and painful. Nevertheless, claimant returned to work because he was released to do so and he
thought that his condition would improve with work.

913 B. April 2015 Accidents

Y14 Claimant was hired by Henkels on or about March 23, 2015. Claimant worked for

Henkels as an apprentice lineman—the same position he had with respondent. On April 1, 2015,
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claimant was still experiencing pain and weakness in his right shoulder. On that date, claimant
threw a large roll of electric tape to a coworker in a bucket lift. Claimant testified that he felt his
shoulder “roll and come out of [the] socket,” causing a lot of pain. Claimant ignored the pain
because he did not want to think he reinjured his shoulder. He finished his work shift, but
“babied” his shoulder the rest of the day.

€15 Claimant returned to work the next day, although his shoulder was sore. On April 3,
2015, a Friday, claimant threw a wire grip to a coworker in a bucket lift. Claimant estimated that
he tossed the wire grip 13 to 20 feet. Claimant testified that this activity is common in his job.
According to claimant, when he threw the wire grip his shoulder “did the exact same thing as it
had done” on April 1. That is, claimant felt his shoulder “roll” and “come out of the socket” and
he experienced pain. Claimant finished the workday but had to “baby” his right shoulder.
Claimant testified that the pain he experienced following these two incidents was more severe
than it was when he went to work for Henkels.

€16 Claimant returned to Dr. Li on April 6, 2015, for a prescheduled appointment. At that
time, claimant related the two incidents that occurred while he was working for Henkels. Dr. Li
ordered an MRI-arthrogram and placed claimant on light duty. However, there was not much
Jight-duty work available in his field, so Henkels could not accommodate his restrictions.
Claimant underwent the MRI-arthrogram on April 16, 2015. On April 22, 2015, Dr. Li noted the
film showed a “[d]iffuse labral tear,” “[nJo rotator cuff tear,” “[o]ld posttraumatic and
postsurgical changes of the glenoid rim,” and a SLAP tear. (“SLAP” is a superior
labral tear from anterior to posterior.) Dr. Li recommended surgery involving a repair of the
SLAP tear “to prevent the subluxation that occurred after [claimant] returned to work.” During

an April 28, 2015, follow-up visit, claimant asked Dr. Li about the cause of his right shoulder
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condition. Dr. 1i told claimant that his right shoulder condition was “a result of his original
injury from June 2014 and subsequent surgery.” He also issued a note stating claimant’s right
shoulder injury “is related to the 6/16/14 injury.”

€17 Meanwhile, on May 4, 2015, claimant saw Dr. Paletta for an independent medical
examination. Dr. Paletta noted that following claimant’s June 2014 work accident, Dr. Li
released claimant to full duty on March 11, 2015, Within the first week of retwrning to work,
claimant was involved in two throwing incidents that resulted in problems involving his right
shoulder. After examining claimant and reviewing the MRI-arthrogram, Dr. Paletta diagnosed a
labral tear with biceps anchor ot SLAP lesion involvement. Dr. Paletta opined that the previous
area of repair was “likely intact” and that the recent injury appeared to be “an extended labral
tear that involves a new area of the labrum not previously involved with the initial tear.” Dr.
Paletta found that the mechanism of injury described by claimant “would be appropriate for
propagating or creating an extended labral tear.” He agreed with Dr. Li’s recommendation for a
revision labral repair, but also recommended a biceps tenodesis. Dr. Paletta opined that claimant
had reached maximum medical improvement (MMI) following the June 2014 injury and returned
to full duty and that the need for the revision surgery was “related to the more recent injury and
not as a result of the initial tear from 6-16-14 which clearly involved a different part of the
labrum.”

9118 Claimant underwent a second surgery on July 8, 2015. The surgery, performed by Dr. Li,
consisted of a right shoulder arthroscopy with debridement and chondroplasty of the humeral
head, arthroscopic repair of the anterior and anterior inferior labrum, repair of a SLAP tear, a
biceps tenodesis, and the removal of a loose anchor. Following surgery, claimant underwent

conservative treatment and physical therapy. Claimant testified that he was placed on light duty
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from April 6, 2015, through the date of surgery, but no employer had offered him work within
his restrictions. As of the date of the arbitration hearing, claimant was still under the care of Dr.
Li. Claimant testified that he continued to experience pain in his right shoulder and his strength
was “not great.” He noted that he recently began strength building in physical therapy.

19 C. Evidence Deposition of Dr. Li

720  Dr. Li—a board-certified orthopaedic surgeon specializing in shoulders, hands, and
knees—testified by evidence deposition on July 27, 2015, Dr. Li testified that the trauma
claimant sustained as a result of the work accident in June 2014 caused inflammation of the
tenosynovium tissue; damage to the glenohumeral joint of the shoulder, which is commonly
referred to as the ball and socket joint; and a complete tear of the capsulolabral complex “from
about two to six o’clock.” Dr. Li testified that these findings are consistent with someone who
fell with an outstretched arm and whose shoulder was dislocated and relocated. Dr. Li testified
that someone with this type of pathology is at “significant risk” for future dislocations. As a
result, Dr. Li recommended surgery. To this end, on September 24, 2014, Dr. Li performed a
right shoulder arthroscopy with debridement of tenosynovitis and repair of a capsulolabral
Barnkart-type separation. Dr. Li noted that one facet of the surgery involved anchoring sutures
into the bone..

Y21 Dr. Li released claimant to return to work full duty without restrictions on March 11,
2015, after claimant had undergone physical therapy and work conditioning. Claimant presented
to Dr. Lt on April 6, 2015, following the two incidents that occurred while working for Henkels.
Dr. Li ordered an MRI and later performed a second operation on July 8, 2015. The second
operation consisted of an arthroscopy with debridement and chondroplasty of the humeral head,

arthroscopic repair of the anterior and anterior inferior labrum, repair of SLAP tear, a biceps
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tenodesis, and the removal of a loose anchor. Dr. Li recounted that a SLAP tear is a labral tear,
but in the superior quadrant “between eleven and one o’clock.”

122 Dr. Li was asked whether claimant’s need for the second surgery and treatment resulted
from the June 2014 accident or whether the accidents in April 2015 constituted intervening
accidents which broke the chain of causal connection. Dr. Li testified that claimant’s condition
was partly atiributable to sequelae of the June 2014 injury, adding that there was some
worsening of claimant’s condition from the subsequent dislocation. Dr. Li further responded:

“I think the original surgery had not fully healed. The construct which he had for
his shoulder at the time that he was throwing the tape and throwing the grip was weaker
than he was—than it was before his first accident, and those actions caused the capsule
to——well, the shoulder to dislocate and the capsule to pull away and the anchor to pull
out.

So because in my second surgery I was able to see the anchor pulled out T would
have to relate it to that this would be a consequence of the treatment from his first injury,
so therefore I relate it to his first injury.”

Dr. Li further opined that because the subsequent labral tear was adjacent to the tear claimant
sustained as a result of the June 2014 accident, the subsequent téar was an extension of the
previous tear “up to the region of the SLAP tear” and was related to the first accident. Dr. Li also
cited the proximity in time between claimant’s first accident, his release to work, and his
subsequent accidents as a factor in finding causation “because it’s certainly within the time frame
of incomplete healing.”

23 On cross-examination by respondent’s attorney, Dr. Li acknowledged that the extended

tear was not the result of the June 2014 accident, but rather the April 2015 accidents. Dr. i
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agreed that if claimant did not perform the throwing actions in April 2015, it is unlikely he would
have re-dislocated his shoulder. Dr. Li also agreed that claimant did not have a SLAP tear as a
result of the first accident and that the tear from the first injury did not extend as high as what
would be required to perform a biceps tenodesis. Dr. Li was unaware of claimant having a
history of dislocations prior to the 2014 accident.

124 On cross-examination by the lawyer for Henkels, Dr. Li testified that if claimant had had
a dislocation 15 years earlier, that fact would have no impact on his causation opinion regarding
claimant’s current condition. Dr. Li testified that the January 2015 FCE determined that claimant
was capable of medium-duty work. As this was not sufficient for claimant to return to his regular
Job duties, work conditioning was ordered. Upon claimant’s release from work conditioning, he
had some limited scapular abduction and decreased internal and external rotation. Dr. Li testified
that a loss of range of motion would be expected as a result of the surgery claimant underwent,
and he was not concerned about it as long as claimant was able to meet his job duties. Dr. Li
testified that when he released claimant in March 2015, he asked claimant to follow up with him
in four weeks. Dr. Li wanted to see claimant again because, he explained, no matter how good
work conditioning is, it is not the real job. Dr. Li added that claimant was not released from his
care in March 2015 when he released him to work full duty. Dr. Li further explained that “there
were some findings in the second surgery that weren’t present in the first surgery, but there was
still the finding—the crux of this is the finding where the shoulder re-dislocated, pulled out the
anchor that was inserted to repair the labrum that was put in as a result of the original injury.”
Therefore, Dr. Li opined that claimant’s injuries following the April 2015 accidents were related
to the initial injury and resulting treatment.

25 On redirect examination, Dr. Li was asked whether—based upon claimant not healing
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completely from the first surgery, the extension of the labral tear, the extension being adjacent to
-the previous tear, and the anchor coming loose from the site of the previous surgery—it was
more likely than not that claimant’s second surgery was “a continuation” of the first surgery. Dr.
Li responded “[f]or sure because the anchor was found to be loose it is a continuation of the first
surgery.”

926  On recross-examination by respondent’s attorney, Dr. Li testified that the extension of the
tear being related to the first injury is based in large part on the fact that the injuries in April
2015 loosened the anchor he installed during the first operation. Dr. Li further testified that the
second surgery most likely would not have happened if the first injury had not happened.

4§27 D. Dr. Paletta’s October 1, 2013, Deposition

1128  Dr. Paletta testified by evidence deposition on October 1, 2015, that he is a fellow trained
in sports medicine and that 60% of his practice involves shoulder work, with the remainder
evenly divided between elbow and knee work, Dr. Palefta first evaluated claimant on F ebruary
16, 2015, and prepared a report of his findings. At that time, Dr. Paletta took a history from
claimant, which included an incident when claimant was in eighth grade and that resulted in a
fracture and dislocation of his right shoulder that necessitated surgical treatment. Claimant stated
that once the injury healed, he “basically” returned to normal function with the right shoulder.
Claimant told Dr. Paletta that he injured his right shoulder at work in June 2014 when he “fell in
the bed of a truck and reached out with his right arm to try and prevent the fall.” On the date of
the examination, claimant reported that he was doing well after undergoing an operation on his
right shoulder. Although claimant complained of some mild discomfort in the front of the
shoulder, he indicated that he was making continued improvement with physical therapy and was

participating in a work-conditioning program. Dr. Paletta thought claimant was doing well

-11 -



2018 TL App (3d) 170656WC

following surgery and was “nearly complete in his recovery.” Dr. Paletta recommended that
claimant complete the course of work hardening, after which he could return to full duty. Dr.
Paletta testified that claimant’s condition, as of the date of the February 2015 evaluation, was
causally related to claimant’s June 2014 work accident.

929 Dr. Paletta saw claimant again on May 4, 2015. At that time, claimant reported that he
had completed work hardening and returned to full duty work when he was involved in two
incidents that he associated with a recurrence of shoulder pain. During the first incident, claimant
felt his shoulder slip out of place as he threw a roll of electrical tape to a coworker. Claimant was
able to manipulate the arm so as to pop the shoulder back into place. The second incident
occurred a couple of days later. Claimant described throwing a wire grip, weighing 2 couple of
pounds, to a coworker in a bucket lift about 12 feet away. Claimant again experienced the
sensation of his shoulder slipping out of position, requiring claimant to manipulate his arm to get
it back into place.

130  Atthe time of claimant’s visit in May 2015, claimant’s principal complaint was of pain in
the right shoulder. Claimant stated that the pain was identical to the pain he experienced prior to
his most recent surgery. Dr. Paletta noted that the MRI-arthrogram showed the repaired labral
tear was still intact, although claimant appeared to have “a new labral tear that extended beyond
the area that had been previously repaired.” Dr. Paletta’s diagnosis was an extended superior
labral tear, or SLAP lesion, following previous repair of the anterior/inferior labrum. Dr. Paletta
opined that the pathology shown on the MRI-arthrogram was a new tear. Insofar as claimant’s
injury involved a new area of the labrum, it was Dr. Paletta’s opinion that the injury was not a
consequence of his old injury, but rather represented “a new problem.” Dr. Paletta agreed with

Dr. Li’s recommendation for a repeat labral repair, although he noted that the repair would
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involve a different part of the labrum. Dr. Paletta also recommended a biceps tenodesis.

131 Dr. Paletta testified that whether Dr. Li placed claimant at MMI after the first surgical
procedure made no difference in reaching his opinion about claimant’s current condition. Dr.
Paletta explained that at the time of his evaluation in Febroary 2015, claimant had no signs or
symptoms of a SLAP tear and the operative photographs from his initial surgery showed no
evidence of a SLAP tear. After the throwing incidents, however, the MRI-arthrogram cleatly
showed evidence of a SLAP tear without any disruption of his previous labral tear. Dr. Paletta
concluded that one or both of the throwing incidents “caused or contributed” to the development
of the SLAP tear, “which was a different condition in his shoulder than what Dr. Li had
previously treated [claimant] for.”

32 Dr. Paletta was asked to comment on the causation opinion in Dr. Li’s deposition
testimony. Dr. Paletta noted that when he formulated his reports, he did not have information
regarding Dr. Li’s observations during claimant’s second surgery. Thus, the question posed to
him contained *“new information” that had not been previously provided. According to Dr.
Paletta, based on the information available to him, it appeared that claimant’s previous labral
repair had healed completely and there was no evidence of a loose anchor. Dr. Paletta testified if
there was evidence to suggest that the previous labral tear had not completely healed, there was a
failure of one of the anchors, and the new tear extended from the area of the old tear upwards, it
would be his opinion that the second injury was due to incomplete healing of the first repair and
an extension of the first tear and not a completely isolated second injury. Thus, based on this
additional information from Dr. Li’s deposition, Dr, Paletta opined that the second set of injuries

occurred because of the failure of the first injury to have adequately healed.
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133 E. Dr. Paletta’s November 19, 2015, Deposition

34 Over the objection of claimant and Henkels, Dr. Paletta testified at a second deposition
on November 19, 2015, Dr. Paletta testified that when he previously testified, he was not aware
that claimant had undergone a second operation and he did not have the operative report
available to him. Since that testimony, Dr. Paletta reviewed the operative report and arthroscopic
photos of the second surgery and prepared a supplemental report of his findings.

935 Dr. Paletta testified that the “most salient line” from Dr. Li’s operative report was a
statement that Dr. Li had “evaluated the site of previous repair and it was loose and [he] could
see that the dislocation had caused one of the anchors to pull loose.” In addition, Dr. Li
performed a biceps tenodesis, which was not indicated at the time of the initial surgery. After
reviewing the additional records and photos, Dr. Paletta’s diagnosis was “a recurrent tear of the
anterior labrum as well as a new tear of the superior labrum or so called SLAP tear.” Dr, Paletta
opined that the second surgery was atfributable to the two throwing accidents. Dr. Paletta
testified that he changed his opinion from the prior testimony because “the operative report
clearly documented that there was a new area of the labrum that was involved with the tear that
was not present previously” and Dr. Li’s impression was that the anchor was loose “as a
consequence of the dislocation episodes.” According to Dr. Paletta, anchors typically fail as a
result of trauma. He stated that if an anchor fails for any other reason, there is typically evidence
of resorption of bone around the anchor, a condition called osteolysis. However, Dr. Li did not
document that condition at the time of the second surgery. Dr. Patella added that claimant had
made a full recovery and had returned to full duty. Dr. Li did not document any residual signs or
symptoms of instability at the time he released him. Further, by claimant’s own admission, when

Dr. Patella took his history, he was doing well up until those two incidents.
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936, On cross-examination by the attorney for Henkels, Dr. Paletta testified that he received
64 pages of additional material from claimant’s attorney on October 2, 2015, the day after his
first deposition. Dr. Paletta noted that the most recent medical record he received as part of that
package was Dr. Li’s note of August 20, 2015, which was prior to his original deposition. He
was not asked to review Dr. Li’s deposition testimony, although during his initial deposition,
there was a break to allow him to review Dr. Li’s testimony.

937 Dr. Paletta further testified that, as part of the 64-page package, he received
intraoperative photographs. Dr. Paletta agreed that in his report he stated that the intraoperative
photos were not helpful in differentiating the mechanism of loosening of the anchor. He added
that there was no picture of a loose anchor in the photographs. Dr. Patella also noted that there
was no photo of the chondral damage documented by Dr. Li. Dr, Patella agreed that what Dr. Li
could visualize with his own eyes during the surgery, he did not have the opportunity to review
with respect to those two factors (loose anchor and chondral change).

138 Dr. Patella testified that the last note he had from Dr. Li after the first surgery was from
March 11, 2015, releasing claimant to full duty. Dr. Patella agreed that if there was no specific
note declaring claimant at MMI, it was fair to say that Dr. Li did not believe that claimant’s
condition had reached a state of MMI as of March 11, 2015, Dr. Patella testified that he was not
aware that Dr. Li had requested claimant to follow up with him a few weeks after he returned to
work. He agreed that when he tells his patients that he wants to see them in four weeks, it is
because he wants to continue to monitor and assess the condition for which they are being
treated.

139  On redirect-examination, Dr. Paletta testified that he was provided color intraoperative

photographs by email, but he printed them out in black and white to review because he does not
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do well reviewing photos on a computer. After reviewing the color photographs at the
deposition, Dr. Paletta could still not see the loose anchor or evidence of chondral damage,
although he did note evidence of the loosening of the previous repair and of the SLAP tear. Dr.
Paletta stated that he saw nothing different in the color pictures as compared to the black and
white photographs. In commenting on Dr. Li’s reference to the temporal relationship between the
second injury and the initial surgery, Dr. Paletta noted that there was no discussion of a second
surgery prior to the throwing accidents taking place. Dr. Paletta also noted that the SLAP tear
was not present or documented by Dr. Li at the first surgery but was present and documented as
part of the second surgery. Dr. Paletta added that although the new area of tear “may connect or
communicate” with the old area of tear, it clearly involved a new area of the labrum that had not
been involved previously. Dr. Paletta added that Dr. Li attributed the loose anchor to the second
dislocation. Finally, Dr. Paletta testified that the fact that Dr. Li did not place claimant at MMI
did not have any effect on his opinion because Dr. Li believed claimant was able to perform all
of his work duties.

940 F. Arbitrator’s Decision

141 Based on the foregoing evidence, the arbitrator found that claimant sustained three
accidents and that his conditionA of ill-being was causally related to all three accidents.
Specifically, the arbitrator concluded that claimant’s right shoulder treatment through March 11,
2015, was causally related to the accident claimant sustained on June 16, 2014, while in
respondent’s employ, and that claimant’s right shoulder treatment after April 1, 2015, was
causally related to the accidents claimant sustained on April 1 and April 3, 2015, while in
Henkels’s employ. In so finding, the arbitrator essentially determined that the April 2015

accidents constituted intervening accidents breaking the causal connection from the initial
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accident. In support of this finding, the arbitrator cited (1) the change in claimant’s subjective
complaints after the April 2015 incidents, e.g., reports of increased pain and instability, (2) a
“clear change in pathology™ following the April 2015 incidents as evidenced by a new labral tear
and a loosened anchor, (3) the lack of evidence that Dr. Li contemplated additional surgery for
claimant prior to the April 2015 incidents, and (4) the fact that claimant was able to work full
duty before the April 2015 accidents. The arbitrator also found the causation opinion of Dr.
Paletta more persuasive than that of Dr. Li. In this regard, the arbitrator questioned why Dr. Li
would release claimant to return to full duty if he had not completely healed.

142 In light of his findings, in case No. 14 WC 37190, the arbitrator awarded claimant 23%,
weeks of TTD benefits from respondent, covering the period from September 26, 2014, through
March 11, 2015, The arbitrator concluded that respondent was liable for claimant’s medical
expenses, but only those incurred prior to March 11, 2015. In case Nos. 15 WC 19322 and 15
WC 19323, the arbitrator awarded claimant an additional 37% weeks of TTD benefits from
Henkels, covering the period from April 6, 2015, through December 22, 2015, In addition, the
arbitrator ordered Henkels to pay for claimant’s medical expenses incurred after April 1, 2015, as
well as his prospective medical treatment.

143 G. Commission Decision

944 Henkels and respondent sought review of the arbitrator’s decision before the
Commission. In case No. 14 WC 37190, the Commission modified the arbitrator’s decision in
part but otherwise affirmed and adopted the decision of the arbitrator. Specifically, the
Commission affirmed the arbitrator’s finding that claimant sustained three distinct accidents on
June 16, 2014, April 1, 2015, and April 3, 2015, but determined that the two accidents sustained

in April 2015 did not constitute intervening accidents sufficient to break the causal connection
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from the initial accident. Rather, the Commission concluded that claimant’s current condition of
ill-being was causally related to the June 2014 accident and that respondent was liable for all
medical expenses and benefits resulting from claimant’s injuries. In addition, the Commission
. remanded the cause to the arbitrator for further proceedings pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial
Comm’'n, 78 I11. 2d 327 (1980).

145 In support of its decision, the Commission found the opinion of Dr, Li more persuasive
than that of Dr. Paletta. The Commission explained that Dr. Li personally observed the
pathology of claimant’s shoulder during surgery. Based on his observations, Dr. Li opined that
the original injury had not completely healed at the time claimant began to work for Henkels and
that the labral tear from the April 2015 incidents was an extension of the tear from the June 2014
accident. As such, Dr. Li related claimant’s current condition of ill-being to the June 2014 injury.
Dr. Li also cited the proximity between the April 2015 accidents and claimant’s first operation as
a factor.

946 The Commission also found significant that when Dr. Li released claimant to full duty on
March 11, 2015, he did not declare claimant at MMI, he did not release claimant from treatment,
and he scheduled a follow-up appointment for claimant. The Commission stated that by opining
that claimant had not completely healed from the initial injury at the time he released claimant to
work, Dr. Li “tacitly accept|ed] that he may have released [claimant] prematurely to work full
duty in a heavy physically demanding level occupation.” The Commission found that Dr. Li’s
admission that claimant had not fully healed from when he released claimant to work, rendered
his testimony “more persuasive rather than less persuasive.”

147 The Commission also cited the facts that claimant was never symptom free following his

initial surgery and that the only FCE, which was administered in January 2015, found that
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claimant was unable to return to his previous job. In reference to the former, the Commission
observed that the medical records showed that claimant complained of continued pain throughout
his therapy, he still had pain and weakness when he teturned to work, and he returned to work
because of Dr. Li’s release, not because he felt ready to return to his position.

48  Finally, citing to Vogel v. Hogan Plumbing, lll. Workers® Comp. Comm’n, 98-WC-42870
(Oct. 22, 2003), qff'd & remanded by Vogel v. Industrial Comm’n, 354 1lL. App. 3d 780 (2005),
the Commission further determined that even if all three accidents constituted concurrent causes
of claimant’s condition of ill-being, that finding would not be sufficient for the April 2015
incidents to become independent intervening accidents, thereby breaking the chain of causation
from the initial accident on June 16, 2014.

149 In case Nos. 15 WC 19322 and 15 WC 19323, the Commission reversed the decision of
the arbitrator, finding that claimant failed to sustain his burden of proving a causal connection
between the April 2015 accidents and his current condition of ill-being.

950 H. Trial Court Decision

€51 Respondent sought judicial review of the Commission’s decisions in the circuit court of
Peoria County. Meanwhile, claimant sought judicial review of the Commission’s decisions in the
circuit court of Marion County. Claimant’s appeal was later transferred to Peoria County and
consolidated with respondent’s appeal. Following a hearing, the circuit court of Peoria County
confirmed the decisions of the Commission. This appeal by respondent followed.

152 II. ANALYSIS

€53  On appeal, respondent raises two issues. First, respondent argues that the Commission’s

'Claimant filed a notice of cross-appeal. However, on Henkels’s motion, we dismissed the cross
appeal for want of jurisdiction.
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decision was contrary to the analysis outlined in National Freight Industries v. Illinois Workers’
Compensation Comm’n, 2013 IL App (5th) 120043WC, and, therefore, the arbitrator’s decision
should be reinstated. Alternatively, respondent contends that the Commission’s finding that
claimant’s current condition of ill-being is causally related to the June 16, 2014, accident was
against the manifest weight of the evidence. We address these arguments in turn,

54  A. National Freight Industries v. lllinois Workers® Compensation Commn

155 Initially, respondent relies on this court’s analysis in National Freight Indusiries v.
Hiinois Workers' Compensation Comm’n, 2013 IL App (5th) 120043WC, to argue that the
Commission’s decision was contrary to law. In support of its position, respondent asserts there is
a conflict between “the line of cases that hold an employer takes an employee as they [sic] find
them [sic] and intervening accident cases where the subsequent work-related accidents occur.”
Respondent requests that we tesolve this alleged conflict “with an interpretation that
distinguishes between subsequent work-related and non-work-related accidents.” According to
respondent, we outlined such an approach in National Freight Industries, which scts forth a
factor-based analysis to address causation where a subsequent work-related accident is at issue,
yet the Commission failed to apply this analysis to the instant case. Respondent maintains that an
application of the factor-based analysis developed in National Freight Indusiries supports a
finding that claimant experienced intervening accidents that broke the causal chain on April |
and April 3, 2015, while he was in the employ of Henkels.

156 As respondent observes, employers take their employees as they find them. Baggeit v.
Industrial Comm’n, 201 T 2d 187, 199 (2002). Thus, even though an employee has a
preexisting condition that may make him or her more vulnerable to injury, recovery for an

accidental injury will not be denied as [ong as the employee establishes that the employment was
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a causative factor in the resulting condition of ill-being. Sisbro, Inc. v. Industrial Comm'n, 207
I 2d 193, 205 (2003). For this reason, the relevant inquiry in preexisting-condition cases is
whether the employee’s condition is attributable solely to a degenerative process of the
preexisting condition or to the aggravation or acceleration of the preexisting condition resulting
from a work-related accident. Sishro, Inc., 207 Tll. 2d at 204-05, Under an independent
intervening cause analysis, compensability for an ultimate injury or disability is based upon a
finding that the employee’s condition was caused by an event that would not have occurred “but
for” the original injury. International Harvester Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 46 IIl. 2d 238, 245
(1970). That the other event, whether work-related or not, may have aggravated the employee’s
condition is irrelevant. Fogel, 354 Ill. App. 3d at 786. An employer is 1'eiieved of liability only if
the intervening cause completely breaks the causal chain between the original work-related
injury and the ensuing condition of ill-being. Global Products v. lllinois Workers' Compensation
Comm’n, 392 1ll. App. 3d 408, 411 (2009).

€57 In arguing that there is a conflict between these two lines of cases, respondent asserts that
under a preexisting-condition analysis, claimant “would not have [been] prevented *** from
claiming Henkels was liable for a work-related injury if he had hypothetically originally injured
his shoulder at home as opposed to while working for [respondent]” whereas “the intervening
accident case law, and the ‘whether work-related or not’ language cited in [intervening-accident
cases], likely leads to an opposite result—that the pre-existing condition precludes a finding that
Henkels is liable.” Although inartfully phrased, respondent seems to suggest that a conflict exists
between these lines of cases because recovery is permitted under a preexisting-condition analysis
if the employee establishes that his or her employment was a causative factor in the resulting

condition of ill-being, but under an independent intervening cause analysis, an employer is
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relieved of liability only if the intervening event completely breaks the causal chain between the
original work-related injury and the ensuing condition of ill-being. In other words, respondent
would have us limit an employer’s liability in intervening cause cases if a subsequent event was
a causative factor in the employee’s resulting condition of ill-being. However, respondent cites
no authority for such a position. Indeed, this is clearly not the law in Illinois. See International
Harvester Co., 46 1lL. 2d at 247 (rejecting apportionment of compensation involving multiple
accidents); see also National Freight Industries, 2013 1L App (5th) 120043WC, 26 (“Every
natural consequence that flows from an injury that arose out of and in the course of one’s
employment is compensable under the Act absent the occurrence of an independent intervening
accident that breaks the chain of causation between the work-related injury and an ensuing
disability or injury.”); Dunteman v. Illinois Workers® Compensation Comm ', 2016 IL App (4th)
150543WC, §42; Teska v. Industrial Comm’n, 266 1L App. 3d 740, 742 (1994); Boatman v.
Industrial Comm’n, 256 11l App. 3d 1070, 1074 (1993)). Respondent advances no cogent reason
to overturn this well-established precedent.

958 Moreover, contrary to respondent’s claim, we did not set forth a test in National Freight
Industries for determining whether a subsequent work-related event constitutes an independent
intervening cause that severs the chain of causation from an earlier work injury. In National
Freight Industries, the claimant sustained an injury on November 6, 2006, while working for
Fischer Lumber. National Freight Industries, 2013 IL App (5th) 120043WC, § 4. On that date,
the claimant was pulling boxes off a truck when he felt a “pop” in his low back followed by a
sharp pain that radiated to his right leg. /d. On December 4, 2008, one day before the claimant
was scheduled to undergo a right L3-4 microdiscectomy, he was involved in a motor vehicle

accident while working for National Freight Industries. Id. 1 8-9. At the time of the motor
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vehicle accident, the claimant felt a “pop” on the left side of his back and began to immediately
expetience a sharp pain down his left side and low back as well as numbness and tingling down
his left leg. /d 9. Thereafter, the claimant’s doctor recommended he undergo a lumbat
laminectomy and fusion with stabilization at 13-4 and L4-5. Id. 9 14. The Commission found
that the motor vehicle accident constituted an independent intervening cause that broke the chain
of causation between the claimant’s condition of ill-being and his November 2006 work injury.
1d. 9 20.

159 After analyzing the evidence in National Freight Industries, we concluded that it was
reasonable for the Commission to conclude that the motor vehicle accident resulted in more than
a mere aggravation of the injuries the claimant sustained in the initial work accident. Jd. 4 33. In
support of this holding, we cited evidence that following the motor vehicle accident there were
changes in (1) the claimant’s symptoms and the intensity of his pain, (2) the pathology of the
claimant’s condition, (3) the nature of the surgical intervention, and (4) the claimant’s ability to
work. Id. 9929-32. Because there was sufficient evidence in the record to support the
Commission’s causation finding, we held that the Commission’s decision was not against the
manifest weight of the evidence, Id. ¥ 33.

€60 Respondent attempts to use our analysis in National Freight Industries to support its
argument that the Commission’s finding regarding causation is contrary to law. In particular,
respondent asserts that in National Freight Industries, we identified four factors to assess
whether a subsequent work-related event constitutes an independent intervening cause that
severs the chain of causation from an earlier work injury. Contrary to respondent’s claim,
however, we did not set forth such a test in National Freight Industries. Rather, we merely

recounted the evidence in the record that supported the Commission’s resolution of the issue. For
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the aforementioned reasons, we reject respondent’s claim that the Commission’s finding
regarding causation was contrary to Jaw.

161 B. Manifest Weight of the Evidence

162  Alternatively, respondent argues that the Commission’s finding that claimant’s current
condition of ill-being is causally related to the June 16, 2014, accident is against the manifest
weight of the evidence. According to respondent, claimant’s accidents on April 1 and April 3,
2015, while he was working for Henkels, constituted independent intervening accidents because
there was no evidence that the April 2015 dislocation episodes were natural consequences of the
Tune 2014 accident.

463 To obtain compensation under the Act, an employee must establish by a preponderance
of the evidence a causal connection between a work-related injury and the employee’s condition
of ill-being. Vogel, 354 11l. App. 3d at 786. Every natural consequence that flows from a work-
related injury is compensable under the Act unless the chain of causation is broken by an
independent intervening accident. National Freight Industries, 2013 IL App (5th) 120043WC,
9 26; Vogel, 354 Tll. App. 3d at 786; Teska, 266 Tl. App. 3d at 742. Under an independent
intervening cause analysis, compensability for an ultimate injury or disability is Eased upon a
finding that the employee’s condition was caused by an event that would not have occurfed “but
for” the original injury. International Harvester Co., 46 11]. 2d at 245. Thus, when an employee’s
condition is weakened by a work-related accident, a subsequent accident, whether work related
or not, that agaravates the condition does not break the causal chain. See Lee v. Industrial
Comm'n, 167 1. 2d 77, 87 (1995); Vogel, 354 Tll. App. at 787; Lasley Construction Co. v.
Industrial Comm’n, 274 TI1. App. 3d 890, 893 (1995). “For an employer to be relieved of liability
by virtue of an intervening cause, the intervening cause must completely break the causal chain
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between the original work-related injury and the ensuing condition.” Global Products, 392 111
App. 3d at 411. As long as there is a “but for” relationship between the work-related injury and
subsequent condition of ill-being, the first employer remains liable. Global Products, 392 Ill.
App. 3d at 412.

964 Whether a causal connection exists between an employee’s condition of ill-being and a
particular work-related accident presents a question of fact. Vogel, 354 Ill. App. 3d at 786; see
also Bell & Gossett Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 53 1ll. 2d 144, 148 (1972) (whether an accident
constitutes an independent, intervening cause is a question of fact for the Commission); Bailey v.
Industrial Comm’n, 286 Tll. 623, 626 (1919) (same). In resolving factual matters, it is the
function of the Commission to assess the credibility of the witnesses, resolve conflicts in the
evidence, assign weight to be accorded the evidence, and draw reasonable inferences therefrom.
Hosteny v. lllinois Workers’ Compensation Comm’n, 397 Ill. App. 3d 665, 674 (2009). This is
especially true with respect to medical issues, where we owe heightened deference to the
Commission due to the expertise it has long been recognized to possess in the medical arena.
Long v. Indusirial Comm’n, 76 Tll. 2d 561, 566 (1979). A reviewing court may not substitute its
judgment for that of the Commission on factual matters merely because other inferences from the
evidence may be reasonably drawn. Berry v. Industrial Comm’n, 99 1L 2d 401, 407 (1984). We
review the Commission’s factual determinations under the manifest-weight-of-the-evidence
standard. Orsini v. Industrial Comm’n, 117 Ill. 2d 38, 44 (1987). Thus, we will overturn the
Commission’s causation finding only if an opposite conclusion is clearly apparent. Freeman
United Coal Mining Co. v. Illinois Workers' Compensation Comm’n, 2013 1L App (5th)
120564WC, § 21.

165 In this case, the Commission concluded that the accidents occurring on April 1 and April
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3, 2015, did not constitute independent intervening accidents that severed the chain of causation
between claimant’s current condition of ill-being and the accident occurring on June 16, 2014,
while claimant was in respondent’s employ. Stated differently, the Commission determined that
claimant’s condition of ill-being after April 2015 would not have resulted “but for” his original
work injury. After reviewing the record, we cannot say that a conclusion opposite that of the

Commission is clearly apparent.

166 Tt is undisputed that claimant injured his right shoulder on June 16, 2014, while working
for respondent. At that time, Dr. Li diagnosed a right shoulder tear due to dislocation. Dr. Li
recommended surgical repair and eventually performed a right shoulder arthroscopy, which
involved repairing the labral tear and anchoring sutures into the bone. Post-operatively, claimant
underwent physical therapy, an FCE, and work hardening. On March 11, 2015, Dr. Li released
claimant to full duty without restrictions, but instructed claimant to follow up with him in four
weeks. On April 1, 2015, claimant redislocated his shoulder when he threw a roll of electrical
tape to a co-worker in a bucket lift. Claimant injured his shoulder a third time on April 3, 2015,
after throwing a wire grip to a coworker in a bucket lift. On April 6, 2015, claimant reported to
Dr. Li’s office for his prescheduled appointment. At that time, claimant reported the two
throwing incidents. Dr. Li diagnosed a SLAP tear and later performed a second operation to
repair the same. During the surgery, Dr. Li also removed a loose anchor from the first operation.

967 Dr. Li was of the opinion that that the accidents of April 2015 did not constitute
independent intervening accidents, breaking the chain of causation between claimant’s condition
of ill-being and the June 2014 injury. Dr. Li explained that the June 2014 shoulder accident made
claimant more susceptible to dislocation and claimant had not completely healed from the

surgery performed after the first dislocation. Dr. Li testified that the throwing accidents in April
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2015 redislocated claimant’s shoulder, pulled out an anchor that was inserted to repair the
labrum at the first surgery, and resulted in the subsequent SLAP tear. Dr. Li further testified that
the SLAP tear was an extension of the labral tear claimant sustained as a result of the June 2014
accident. Dr. Paletta agreed that claimant sustained a SLAP tear as a result of the April 2015
accidents. However, Dr. Paletta opined that this was a new tear without any disruption of the
labral tear sustained in June 2014. In support of this conclusion, Dr. Patella testified that by
March 2015, claimant had made a full recovery with no residual signs or symptoms of instability
and had been returned to full duty. Dr. Patella acknowledged that claimant had a loose anchor,
but attributed the condition to trauma, since Dr. Li did not document osteolysis at the second

surgery and osteolysis was the only other condition that would cause the anchor to fail.

68 As the foregoing establishes, the Commission was presented with conflicting causation
opinions. As noted above, it is the function of the Commission to decide questions of fact and
causation, to judge the credibility of the witnesses, and to resolve conflicting medical evidence.
Hosteny, 397 Ill. App. 3d at 674. In resolving this conflict, the Commission found the causation
opinion of Dr. Li more persuasive than that of Dr. Paletta. In this regard, the Commission noted
that Dr. Li personally observed the pathology of claimant’s shoulder during surgery. Based on
that observation, Dr. Li opined that the original injury had not completely healed and the first
injurﬁz caused the shoulder to dislocate after claimant threw a roll of tape. Dr. Li also related
claimant’s condition of ill-being after April 2015 to the initial injury based on his finding that the
SLAP tear was an extension of claimant’s June 2014 labral tear and the proximity between the
first surgery and the second injury. The Commission also found noteworthy that while Dr. Li
released claimant to full duty on March 11, 2015, he did not declare him at maximum medical
improvement and did not release claimant from treatment. Given the Commission’s fact-finding
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role and the expertise it possesses in the medical arena, we cannot say that its decision to adopt
the causation opinion of Dr. Li over that of Dr. Paletta was against the manifest weight of the
evidence.

169 Despite the foregoing record, respondent contends that there is no testimony or evidence
that the April 2015 dislocation episodes were a natural consequence of the June 2014 accident. In
support of this argument, respondent contends that Dr. Li testified that *but for the April 2015
accidents, [claimant’s] dislocation episodes would not have occurred and [he] would not have
required additional surgery.” However, as stated above, under an independent intervening cause
analysis, compensability for an ultimate injury or disability is based upon a finding that the
employee’s condition was caused by an event that would not have occurred “but for” the original
injury. International Harvester Co., 46 1ll. 2d at 245 (observing that the “but for” rationale has
been extended to cases where the event immediately causing the second injury was not itself
caused by the first injury, yet but for the first injury, the second event would not have been
injurjous). Here, Dr. Li testified that having experienced the first dislocation, claimant’s
pathology made him more susceptible to dislocation in the future. Dr. Li further testified that
claimant had not completely healed from the original surgery when he began working for
Henkels.‘As a result, claimant’s shoulder was in a weakened state when the throwing incidents
occurred, causing the shoulder to dislocate, the capsule to pull away, and the anchor to pull out.
Thus, the evidence of record can reasonably be interpreted to support the Commission’s
inference that claimant’s condition of ill-being after April 2015 would not have resulted “but for”
his original work injury. See id. at 244-47 (affirming Commission’s resolution of conflicting
medical evidence in favor of the claimant regarding whether the claimant had fully recovered
from the effects of his work-related brain injury when he was struck in the eye by his wife,
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causing an increase in his neurosis); Lasley Construction Co., 274 Ill. App. 3d at 893-94
(affirming Commission’s finding, based on medical evidence, that the claimant would not have
suffered a herniated disc following chiropractic' adjustments and flu but for his work-related
injury).

970 In its decision, the Commission cited to Vogel, 354 Ill. App. 3d 780. Respondent claims
that Fogel is distinguishable because in this case, unlike in Vogel, the evidence demonstrates that
claimant had recovered following his first shoulder surgery and had been released to full duty
work. However, the Commission did not cite to Pogel because it found the case factually similar.
Rather, the Commission cited to Fogel for the proposition that a condition of ill-being can be
attributable to concurrent causes but that such a finding is not sufficient for the subsequent
accidents to break the causal chain from the initial accident. In any event, despite respondent’s
contention to the contrary, the evidence of record reasonably supports a finding that claimant had
not completely recovered from his first surgery despite being released to return to work. First,
_ the fact that an employee has returned to employment following a work-related injury does not
alone establish that the employee has recovered from the injury. Infernational Harvester Co., 46
Il 2d at 244. Second, the evidence supports a finding that claimant had not completely healed
by the time he returned to work. In this regard, although Dr. Li released claimant to return to
work in March 2015, he did not find claimant at maximum medical improvement, he did not
release claimant from his care, and he instructed claimant to follow up with him in four weeks.
Dr. Li also opined that claimant’s original surgery had not fully healed at the time the April 2015
accidents occurred. Finally, we note that claimant testified that although his shoulder had
progressed when Dr. Li released him to return to work, it was still weak and painful. Claimant
related that he returned to work only because he was released to do so, and he thought his

-29.



2018 IL App (3d) 170656WC

shoulder would improve with work. That claimant had not fully recovered at the time he was
released to return to work is also evidenced by the fact of his April 2015 injuries while he was
performing activities common to his job.

171 For the reasons stated above, we hold that the Commission’s finding that the April 2015
accidents did not constitute independent intervening causes sufficient to break the causal
connection between claimant’s current condition of ill-being and his June 2014 work-related
accident was not against the manifest weight of the evidence.

172 1II. CONCLUSION

173 For the reasons set forth above, we affirm the judgment of the circuit court of Peoria
County, which confirmed the decision of the Commission. This cause is remanded to the
Commission for further proceedings pursuant to Thomas, 78 Tll. 2d 327.

174  Affirmed and remanded.
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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

DALLAS HAMM,

pestoner 186IWCCHCO0
Vs. NO: 14 WC 37190
PAR ELECTRIC,

Respondents,

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

“Timely Petition for Review under §19({b} having heen filed by the Respondént herein and
notice given te.all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causation,
temporary fotal disabﬂﬁy and medical expenses both curtent and prospective and being advised
of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise
affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part
hereof. The Commiission further fem&nds this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for 2
determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for
permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Indusiricd Commission, 78 111.2d 327, 399
N.E.2d 1322, 35 [l{.Dec. 794 (1980).

By way of background, three claims were consolidated and arbitrated fogether. There
were three separafe accident dates all alleging injury fo Petitioner’s right shoulder, with Par
Electric the Respondent in 14WC37190, and Henkels & McCoy the Respondent in 15WC19322
and 15WC19323. The Arbitrator found Petitioner proved all three alleged accidents which all
caused his current condition of ill-being. In 14WC37190, the accident apparently was stipulated,
and the Arbitrator awarded Petitioner 23&6/7 weeks of temporary total disability benefits but
found Respondent, Par Electric, net liable for teinporary total disability and medical expenses
incurred after March 11, 2615, Tn 15WC19322 and 15W(C19323 the Arbitrator found actidents
on April 1, 2015 and Apnl_ 3, 2015, respectively. In those claims the Arbitrator awarded
Petitioner 3782/7 weeks of temporary total disability benefits, to the date of arbifration, and
ordered Respondent, Henkels & McCoy, 1o pay medical expenses incumed after March 12, 2015
as well as prospective freatment.
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Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

Petitioner tesﬁﬁeﬁ he worked s an electrical lineman through the IBEW and was almost
finished ‘with his apprenticeship. Job duties of a lineman include restoring power,
building new lines, climbing poles, and digging holes; it involves a lot of physical work,

On June 16, 2014 he was working for Par Electric building new lines. On that date he
slipped and went to ¢atch himself and “dislocated [his] shoulder. It felt like it came out
of the socket.” He had ng previous problems with his right shoolder. A co-worker
reported the accident and “safety guys came cut and took” him w an Etnergency
Department. They refesred him for physical therapy.

Petitioner had physical therapy at- OSF for a few weeks. The doctor at OSF referred
Petitioner to Dr. Li, an orthopedic surgeon, who ordered an MRI1 Hewas on light duty
from the accident to about September 26, 2014, at which time Dr. Li performed surgery
and took him off work. Ile had a Jot of postoperative physical therapy. He then had

work hardening. Dr. Li released him to full duty as of March 11, 2015, His shoulder

progressed but it still was not 100% “by any means,” but he returned to work because he
was released to return to work. His shoulder was still weak and painful but he thought it
would probably improve with work,

Petitioner got -onto a job with Henkels & McCoy about March 23, 2015 through the
union. He worked in fhe exact same job as he had with Par. On April 1, 2015 his
shoulder still had some pain and weakness, He threw a big foll of electric tape to a <o~
worker on a crane hoist. He had a lot of pain in Hs right shoulder. He kind of ignored it
because he did not want to think he re-injured his shoulder. He babied his shoulder the

test of the day.

Petitioner testified he went to work the next day even though his shoulder was very sore.
On April 3, 2015, which was a Friday, he threw a wire grip tool fo a co-worker on 2 crane
hoist. His shoulder “did the exact same thing it had done™ on April 1%, He felt it “come
out of the soeket” and he had pain; he then knew it “wasn't & {luke.” He estimated he
tossed the ool 15 to 20 feet. 1t's an activity that is common in his job. He again finished
his workday, but again had to baby his shoulder. '

Petitioher returned to Dr, 11 on April 6, 2015,  He ordered a new MRI and put him-on
light duty. But there is not much light duty work available in his field. Henkels &
MeCoy could not accommodate his restrictions. He just told them he hurt his shouider,
but “just thonght it was from the previous injury™ so he “never even did any kind of
paperwork on it.”

Peﬁtiqnéif had a second surgery on July 8, 2015, He had been on light duty the enfire
time since April 6, 2015; nobody had offered him work within those restrictions. He was

still under the care'of Dr. Li. He still has pain in his shoulder and his strength was “not
great,” He has curently “gotten into the strength building in therapy.”

Ccod
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8. Om cross examination, by the lawyer for Par Electric, Petitioner tesiified Par authorized
the surgery performed on September 26, 2014 by Dr. Li. He was paid femporary total
disability benefits afier that surgery. In physical therapy after the first surgery he
complained of 2/10 ongoing pain in the front of his shoulder. Dr. Likead him concentrate
on overhead exercises in physical therapy.

0. Petitioner also testified he may have mentioned that his son jumped on his shoulder on

‘November 19, 2014 cansing pain. However, he did not report in December of 2014 that

“he hurthis shoulder trying to catch his dog; he doesn’t have a dog: He had a functional

capacity evaluation (“FCE™) at Dr. Li’s recommendation, in January 2015, and suffered
no dislocations through that, physical therapy, of work hardening. '

10. Petitioner further testified that there were no dislocation events until he started working
for Henkels & McCoy. He did slip on ice in February 2015 and pulled a muscle in his
back, but he did not hurt his right shoulder. Petitioner felt like he dislocated his shoulder
in the two incidents in April 20135, and Dr. Li had not recommended. an MRI or sargery
prior to those jncidents. Petitioner had surgery for a dislocation of his right shoulder
when he was 13, which was 17 or 18 years ago.

11.On cross examination, by the lawyer for Henkels & MeCoy, Petitioner testified that he
attributed his right shoulder injury in June of 2014 to work he was doing for Par. He
came under the care of Dr. Li at that time and with whom he still treats. He has been
anider the care of Dr. Li continuously since September 2014. He was never released from
treaiment by Dr. Li. He already had an appointrment scheduled with Dr. Li for April 6,
2015 af the time Dr. Li released him to full duty on March 11, 2015.

'12. Petitioner further testified that it sounded right that Petitioner started working for Henkels
& McCoy on March 30, 2015, which was a2 Monday. He went through some training on
both March 30" and March 31%, with some work also in the field. He did not seek
medica) treatment immediately after the April 1% incident. He had pain in his shoulder
prior to that incident, and continued to complain to Dr. Li about limitations regarding

overhead activities. He worked both Saturday and Sunday after the April 3 incident.

He did not file any accident reports with Henkels & McCoy:

13. On redircct examination, Petitioder testified that even though he did mot file any
paperwerk with Henkels & MeCoy, he told his foreman about the incidents in April
2015, He did not have any problems with, or treatment for, his shoulder for the 10 years
prior to the June 16, 2014 accident.

14. The medical fecord reveals that on August 14; 2014, Petitioner presented to Dr. Li on
referral from Dr. Moody. Petitioner reported injuring his shonlder six weeks previously
when he fell at work and tried to cafch himself with his right arm (Par accident), He
actually felt his shoulder dislocate and relocate. He had physical therapy and
conservative treatment with no relief of pain, o of his weakness and instability. Dr. Li
diagnosed a right shoulder labral tear due fo dislocation and recommended surgery.

= Tz,
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15, On September 26, 2014, Dr. Li performed right shoulder arthroscopy with debridement
of extensive tensynovitis and repair of capsulolabral Bankari-type separation for fype i
superior and posterior [abral tears, tensynovitis, and capsulolabral tear.

16. Petitioner commenced post-operative ireatment including a cortisone imjection and
physical therapy. After about 26 physical therapy sessions Pefitioner reported 2/10,
which was pretty consistent throughout the physical therapy.

“17. Of January 15, 2015, Petitioner had an FCE, which was consideréd valid with Petiticner

 providing maximum effort. He was able to operate consistently at the medium physical

dernand level; however, he was not sufficiently improved to return to unrestricted work.

His perceived physical demand capabilities were slightly lower than the ones observed to
perhaps a light to medinm level. Petitioner began work conditioning 11 days later.

18. On March 10, 2015, in physical therapy, Petitioner reported no significant issues from the
previous session. He had progressed rapidiy the last three weeks of work conditioning,
In the previous sessions he did not complain of pain but he did complain mostly of
fatipue, He had met all goals in work conditioning. He {vas to bé released to full duty
the following day. After about 28 sessions, Pefitioner was discharged from work
conditioning.

19, On March 11, 20135, Petitioner returned to Dr. 13, who noted he had completed work
conditioning and was ready to return to work. He discharged Petitioner to full duty, but
he did not discharge him from {reatment.

20, On Apdl 6, 2015, Petitioner teturned to Dr, Li. Petitioner reported he returned to work
the previous week. There were two episodes which were concerning; one when he threw
a roll of tape end one when he threw a grip (Henkels & McCoy incidents). These
overhend motions caused him discomfort. He felt like his shoulder dislocated after
throwing the tape but did not feel that sensation when throwing the grip. On examination
strength and range of motion were full. Dr. Li ordered an MRA, -

21. An MRA, taken on April 16, 2015 after 2014 surgery and dislocation of the right
shoulder twice the previous week,” showed a diffuse lateral tear with no rotator cuff tear
and old posttraumatic and postsurgical changes in the glenoid rim.

22, Cn April 22, 2015, Dr. Li noted the MRA showed “diffuse lateral tear with no rotator
cuff tear and old posttraumatic and postsurgical clianges in the gleroid rim” and “SLAP
tear present.” Dr. Li recommended arthroscopic repair of the SLAP tear. They would
await a schedided Section 12 examination. '

23. On April 28, 2015, Petitioner asked Dr. Li whether his condition was the result of the
original injury and subsequent surgery, Dr. Li indicated that it was related to the original
injury of June 16, 2014, He wrote iri'a “restriction: the right shoulder condition is related
to the™ June 16, 2014 injury.
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24. On May 4, 2015, Dr. Paletta examined Petitioner at Respondent's direction, and issned a
report.  He noted thai he had seen Petitioner previously on February 16, 2015 for
evaluation of the same shoulder. His original injury was on June 16, 2014 as a result of a
fall at work. He was originally diagnosed with a lzbral tear or Bankart lesion. Dr. Li
performed arthroscopic stabilization or Bankart repair on September 24, 2014, When Dr.
Paletta saw him on February 16" he was doing well with good strength, good function,
good stability, and only minimal motion losses. [t was Dr, Paletta’s impression that be
could returnto work after he completed work hardening, within a month or so.

25. Dr. Paletta noted that Petitioner returned to Dr. Li on February 25, 2015, after the
previous Section 12 report, and he continued work hardening. Petitioner reported he
completed work hardening and was released to work at full duty on March 11, 2613, but
it took him a couple of weeks thereaficr to secure employment. _

26. Petitioner reported that within a week of Tetuming to work he had two incidents. First, he
threw an about 2-Ib roll of electrical tape to a co-worker, He felt the shoulder slip out of
place and he had to manipulate t & little to get it back in place. A coupie of days later, he
threw a grip weighing a few Ibs to a co-wozker ina bucket about 12 feet overhead. He
again felt the shoulder slipping out and had to manipulate if to get it back into position.

7. Petitioner returned to Dr. Li on Apsil 6, 2015, He was concermed about a possible
recurrenit labral tear and ordered an MRI. The MRI showed a diffuse labral tear including
2 SLAP tear. Dr Li noted that the repair of the glenoid appears fo be imtact, but
recomunended & revision shoulder stabilization, surgery due to “some stretching of the
capsular labral complex.” After his examination and review of the MRI, Dr. Paletta

diagnosed “extended superior labral tear status post previous anferior labral repair.”’ The
prévious area of repair seemed to be intact. He agreed with Dr. Li's recomnmendation for
a revision labral repair and he would also consider a biceps tenodesis. Because the new
injury did not extend to fhe area that was previously repaired, Dr. Paletta attributed his
current condition and need for revision surgery to the more recent incidents.

28, On July 8, 2015, Dr. Li performed right shoulder arthroscopy with debridemerit and
chondroplasty of the humeral head, arthroscopic repair of the anterior and anterior
inferior Jabrum, repair of a SLAP fear; biceps tenodesis, and removal of loose anchor for
shoulder instability with labral tears, SLAP tear, grade 2 chondral injuries of the humeral
head from dislocation, and loose anchor in the right shoulder,

29, On July 27, 2015, Dr. T festified by deposition. He is a board certified orthopedic
surgeon and specializes in showlders, hands, and knees. He first saw Petitioner on August
24, 2014 after he was reférred to him by Dr. Moody, an occipational medicine docfor.
Petitioner had fallen at work and dislocated and relocated his right shoulder; he had
persistent pain and instability thereafter. Dr Li performed arthroscopic surgery with
debridement of tensynovitis and repair of repair of a vapsulolabral Bankari-type
separation on September 26, 2014, ’

e
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30. Dr. Li explained that a Bankar{-type separation is 4 separation of the tissue between the
shoulder socket and the tissue that connects i to providing stability to the joint. The
Jabrom maintains the humeral head within the socket and provides a cushion. Petitioner’s
trauma caused the tensynovium to becorme really inflamed and it grew “like a weed.” It
becomes hard to see inside the plenohumeral joint until the surggon removes that tissue.
When Petitioner distocated, or when he relocated, his shoulder some bone chipped off of
the socket and there was some damage to the ball.

Dr. Li alsotestified that the patholozy he neted in the operative repaort is consistent with a-
patient falling on an outstretched arm. The pathology, as well as a Hill-Sachs deformity,
increased the likeiihood of future dislocations; that was why he perfonned the surgery.
Dr. Li was able to accomplish what he wanted in surgery.

[P
—

32, Petitioner had postoperative physical therapy and work conditioning to strengthen him so
he would be able to return to work at his previous job as-an electrician. Dr. Li released
him to full duty on March 11, 2015, afier he completed work conditioning. Petitioner’s
time for récovery was about standard for his type of surgery. Dr. Li would have told
Petitioner he would probably experfence some loss of range of motion both because the .
surgery tightened up the joint structure and there would be some scar tissue.

33. Petitioner returned fo Dr. 1i on April 6, 2015 and teported the two throwing incidents,
He ordered an MR and lafer performed arthroscopy with debridement and chondroplasty
of the humeral head, Jabrom/SLAP tear repair, biceps tenodesis, and removal of a loose
anchor on July 8, 2015, The SLAP tear was an extension of the previous labral tear “up
to the region of the SLAP tear.™ However, he did not think it was “pew tear.” .

14, e, Ti also testified that some of Petitioner’s condition was seguelge of the initial injury
but he fhought that there was a worsening of Petitioner’s condition by the second
dislocation. However, sach dislocation made him more susceptible to subsequent
dislocations, He had labral tears and the anchor from the previous surgery had loosened
by the second dislocation, but the rotator cufl was intact. Dr. Li then opined that the =~ ..
original injury had not completely heeled and the first injury caused the shoulder to
dislocate after Petifioner threw the roll of tape. Because the tear was an extension of the
initial tear, he related Petitioner’s condition to the initial injury. The proximity between
the second injury and the surgery was also a factor. :

35. On cross examination, by the lawyer for Par Electiic, Dr. 1i testified the extended tear =~ .°
was not the tesult of the fisst accident. The extension of the tear was caused by the '
subsequent incidents, If he did not perform those actions, the re-dislocation probably
would not have happened, He did not have a SLAP fear from the fifst accident. The tear
extended to the extent that he chose to perform a biceps tenodesis. Dr. Li did not believe
he was aware of any dislocations prior to the 2014 accident,

36. On cross cxamination by the lawyer for Henkels & McCoy, Dr. Li testified that if
Petitioner had 2 previous dislocation 15 years previously that would have no jmpact on
his opirions about causation of his current condition.
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37. Dr. Li believed that an FCE in January 2015 rated Petitioner to be able to function ata
medium physical demand level. He had work hardening after the FCE because that status
was not sufficient to have him return to work in his reguiar job.

48 Dr. Li reviewed Dr. Palefta’s Section 12 report, but only after he had released Petitioner.
He did not know what Petifioner meant when he told Dr. Paletta that he felt his shoulder
was unstable in 2/15. He understood that upon his release from work conditioning,

" Petitioner “had some Gmited scapular abduction, &-b-abdiction, and decreased infernal
and external rotation.” That would be consistent with his assessment at that time. He
was not really concerned about a little loss of range af motion as long as Petitioner could
meet his job duties. A loss of range of motion would be expected after the surgery
Petitioner had. When he released Petitioner to full duty he asked that he return for follow
up in four weeks. Petitioner was not released from care when he was released to full duty
WOIK.

36. Dr. Li finther explained “there were some findings in the second. surgery that weren't
present in the first surgery, but there was still the finding - the crux of this is the finding

where the shoulder re-dislocated, pulled out the anchor that was inserted to repair the  °

labrum that was put in as a result of the original imjury.” Therefore, he thought
Petitioner’s subsequent condition related to the initial injury and resulting treatment,

40, On redirect examination, Dr. Li testified that the extension of the tabral tear was based oz
Petitioner not completely healing from the first injury. H-was “uyndeniable” that the.
loosening of the anchor was an extension of the first injury.

41. On re-cross examination, by the lawyer from Par, Dr. Li festified even if the second
injury occurred 18 months after the first surgery he would still relate the condition to the
initial injury. However, if he had not re-dislocated the shoulder the anchor would not.
have Ioosened. The second surgery probably would not have been necessary if there had
not been the initial injury. B

42, Dr. Paletta was deposed on October 11, 2015 by a lawyer for Par Electric. Dr. Paletta
testified he is fellowship-trained in sports medicine; 60% of his practice relates 10
shoulders, 20% knees, and 20% elbows, About 40% of his patients are workers’
compensation and about 3%.of his practice involves Section 12 examinations. He sees
about 100 patients a week and performs 12 to 15 surgical procedures a week. '

43, He first saw Petitioner on February 16, 2015 and issued a report. He also saw him sgain
“and issued another report in May 2015, He reviewed medical records, mostly from Dr.
Li, physical therapy notes, and an FCE. Petitioner reported that in the 8™ grade he was in
an_ accident in which he fractured and dislocated his right shouldér, requiring surgery.
Once he healed and pins were removed he “had basically gone back to normal function
with the shoulder.” ' ‘
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44, At the first examination, ?eﬁ_ticner reported to Dr. Palst{a that he was doing well in

45,

46.

47. Dr, Paletta also noted that whether or not Dr. Li placed Petitioner at muaximum medical

48.

49.

Q-Dex On-Line

recovery from recent shoulder surgery. He had “some mild discomfort in the front of the
shoulder” and was making continued progress in.physical therapy. He was currently in
work hardening. Dr. Paletta thought Pefitioner was “nearly complete in his recovery,”
and he could work 2t full duty once work hardening was complete.

Dr. Paletta examined Petitioner again on May 6, 2015, Petitioner reported that he
finished work hardening and had been returnied to full duty. He reported two incidents
‘hat were associated with recurrent shoulder pain, Dr. Paletta agreed that “if (apparently
referring to Petitioner’s condition) was different that when [he] evaluated him initially.”
i the first incident he threw a roll of tape “a good distance” like a haseball. In the
second incident he reported throwing a too} that weighed a couple of pounds about 12
feet. In both instances he felt the sensation of his shoulder stipping out and he had to
manipulate the shoulder to get it back into posiion. Dr. Paletta did not consider that
either activity constituted an ocourrence of everyday living ontside a sports contexi.
Petitioner reported the pain was exactly the same as it was prior to his surgery.

Dr. Paletta nofed Petitioner returned to Dr. Li who ordeted an MRA, Dr. Paletta
reviewed the MRA which showed that the Iabrum tear repaired in the surgery was still
intact. It appeared that he had “a new labral tear that extended beyond the area that had
been previcusly repaired.” He diagnosed Petitioner “had an extended superior labral tear,
or SLAP tear following previous. repair of the anterior/inferior labrum.™ Dr, Paletta
opinied that the pathology shown on the MRA was a new tear. He noted that a SLAP tear
can be the result of a throwing mechanism. Dr. Paletta agreed with Dr. ‘Li
recommendation for repeat labrum repair, but while he used the ferm “’repeat’ it was
going to be & repair in a diffetent part of the labrum.”

improvement afler the surgery made no difference in reaching his opinion about
Petitioner's current condition. There was no evidence of a SLAP tear prior to, or during,
surgery. Then after the throwing injuries the MRA clearly showed the SLAP tear.

Dr. Palefta was then asked to comment on the causation opinion in Dr. Li’s deposition .

testimony. Dr. Paletia noted that the question posed to him contained new-information
that he was previously provided. He had no information about & “loose anchor™ and if
there were evidence that the previous labral repair had failed, that might change- his
causation opitiion. Full information would include an operative report and operative
photos, In fact, if Dr. Li’s suggestion that Petitioner had not completely healed from the
first labral tear were true, he would opine that the condition was due to the initial injury.

O cross examination by Pefitioner’s lawyer, Dr. Paletta testified he had no eriticism of

the treatment provided Petitioner by Dr. Li. The surgical procedures he performed would
be same procedures Dr. Paletta would have performed. As an independent medical
examiner, Dr. Paletta is “completely bound by the information made- available to™ him.

He did not have the observations Dr. Li made during surgery when he anthored his May

2015 Section 12 report,

e
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50, Dr. Paleita was recalled for deposition by Respondent Par Elechic on November 19,
2015. He testified that when he testified previously it was primarily about the need fora
second surgery for Petitioner. At that time he was not aware that Petitioner actually had &
second surgery and did not have access to the operative report. Since that testimony he
had been provided that information.

14 WC 37190
Page 9

31. Thereafter, he prepared a third report dated October 9, 2015. Dr. Paletta found most
salient, Dr, Li's statement in the operative report thal he “evaluated the site of the

““previous repair and it was loos¢ and [he] could see that the dislocation had caused one of ~ -
the anchors to pull loose.” Dr. Li also performed a biceps tenodesis, which was not
indicted at the time of the initial surgery.

52. Based on all the inforrmation now available to him, Dr. Paletta now diagmosed “recurrent
tear of the anterior labrum as well as a new tear of the superior labrum, or 5o called SLAP
tear.” He now opined that the need for the second surgery was caused by. the two
subsequient throwing incidents Petitioner seported. He noted that the operative report
clearly showed 2 tear in a new area of the labrum and Dr. Li's impression that the anchor ,
came loose due to the second dislocation. Typically, anchors fail due to trauma; the first |
repair would not have failed if not for the throwing incidents. - C

53. Dr. Paletta also noted that Petitioner had made 2 full recovery and returned to full duty.
Dr. Li did not document any signs of residual instability at the time he refeased Him. In
the history Petitioner provided Dr. Paletta he indicated he did well 1mtil the two
subsequent incidents.

34, On cross examination, by a Jawyer for Respondent Henkels & MocCoy, who did not pose
any questions at the initial deposition, Dr. Paleita agreed that the last medieal record he
reviewed in preparation of his latest report was Dr. Li's note from August 20, 2015. He
had not been asked to review any records after that date, mor was he asked to review Dr.
Li’s deposition testimony. He was asked io review the additional records the day after
his previous deposition.

55. Dr. Paletta received black & white copies of the intraoperative photos; actual films are
generally in color. He agreed that his most recent report indicated that the photos were
not helpful in differentiating the mechanisny of loosening of the anchor; he could not “not
even see the loose anchor in this photo,” There was also mo photo of the chondral
damage Dr. Li noted. He agreed that Dr. 1i personally ohserved the pathology of -
Petitioner’s shoulder, )

56. Dr. Paletta noted that the last noté he had from Dr. Li after the first surgery was from:
March 11, 2015 releasing him to full duty. He did not recall whether Dr. Li found hini to
be ai maximum medical improvement at that fime. Ifthere was no specific note declaring
Petitioner at maximum medical improvement, it would be fair to say that Dr. Li did not _ -
consider Petitioner to actually be at maximum medical improvement. He was not aware
that at that time Dr. Li requested Petitioner follow up with him a few weeks after he
‘returned to work.
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57.0n cross examination by Petitoner’s lawyer, Dr. Paletla testified that the additional
material he reviewed after his initial deposition was “absolutely” new to him.

58, On redirect, after reviewing his e-mail attachments, Dr. Palefta testified color
intraoperative photos were sent to him by e-mail but he printed them out to review themy
he does not do well reviewing photos on a computer. In viewing the color images he still
could not see the anchor, though ke did see evidence of Joosening of the previous repair

~~and the SLAP tear. i commerting on Dr. Li'§ reference to the proximity between the
second injury and the imitial surgery, Dr. Paletta moted that the injury was more
temporarily proximate to the throwing incidents. In addition, the anchor Joosening was
associated with the second dislocation. The fact that Dr. 14 did not place Petitioner at

~ ‘maximum medical improvement did not have any effect on his opinion, because Dr, Li
believed Petitioner was able to perform all of his work duties.

The Arbitrator did not specifically address the issug of accidents in the body of his
decision. He began his analysis with causal relationship of all the accidents. As noted above,
Par Electric stipulated to the sccident in 14WC37190. However, Henkels & McCoy did not
stipulate to accidents in 15WC19322 & 15WC19323. In its brief Henkels & MeCoy argues the

Arbitrator erred in finding accidents on April 1, 2015 and April 3, 2015 because Petitioner . . .

neither reported the incidents nor sought immediate medical atfention as a result of thera.

The Commission affiims the Arbitrator’s determination {hat Petitioner suffered three
distinct accidents on June, 16, 2014, Aprit 1, 2015, and April 3, 2015 which is fmplicit in his
decision. Petitionar’s testimony about the incidents was credible and corroborated by the
treatment notes of Dr, Li. There is no evidence contradicting his {estimony-about suffering such
accidents. In addition, it was understandable that he did not seck medical attention, because he
had an appointment already scheduled with Dr. Li in a few days. Similarly, his failure to report
the incidents was understandable because he personally attributed his re-injury to Hhis pirevious
accident, an impression apparently supported by his conversation with Dr. Li.

On the issne of causation, the Arbitrator found that Petitioner’s current condition of iil-
being was causally related to both the initial accident/injury on June 16, 2014 and the subsequent
throwing incidents in April 2015, The Arbitrafor concentrated his decision on the causal
connection of the secondary incidents, which in effect he found to be intervening accidents
treaking the causal connection from the initial accident. The Arbitrator noted the chauge n
Petitioner’s subjective complaints after those incidents. He also found the causation opinion of
Dr. Paletta more persuasive than that of Dr. Li. He specifically noted Dr. Paletta’s testimony that
the failure of the anchor was traumatic in nature. He also found Dr. Li unpersuasive because if
Pefitioner had not completely hiealed he would not have released him to full duty,

The, Commission agrees with the Arbitrator that Petitioner suffered accidents in April
2015 subsequent to the initial accident and injury of June 16, 2014. The fundamental issue
wefore the Commission becomes whether those accidents were sufficient to become infervening .
accidents. breaking the causation from the initial accident. We find that they did not and that =
Petitioner™s current condition of ill-being relates back to his initial accident on June 16, 2014, - .
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Tn this instance, the Commission finds the causatien opinion of Dr. LI more persuasive
than that of Dr. Paletta. Dr. Li actually personally observed the pathology of Petitioner’s
shoulder during surgery. Based on that observation, Dr, Li opined that the original infury had
not completely healed and the first injury caused the shoulder to dislocate afier Petitioner threw
the roll of tape. Because the tear was an extension of the initial tear, he related Petitioner’s
condition to the initial injury, Dr. Li also noted that the proximity between the second mjury and
the surgery was also a factor. The Commission also finds noteworthy that while Dr. Li released

--------- Petifioner to full duty-on March11, 2014; he did-not declare him-at maximum medical
improvement, he did pot release him from treatment, and he actually scheduled a follow-up
appointment.

* The Arbitrator indicated he did not find Dr, Li’s opinion persuasive becanse he would not
have released Petifioner to work full duty if he thought he had not healed completely after his
initial surgery. The Commission disagrees with the Arbitrator’s assessment. The Commnission
notes that at times the practice of medicine is more of an art than a science. Sometimes, doctors’
educated conclusions regarding & patient’s current condition can be later found to be inaccurate
or incomplete. Here, by opining that Petitioner had not completely healed from the initial injury,
Dr, Li is tacitly accepting that he may have released Petitioner prematurely to work full duty in a
heavy physically demanding level ocoupation. The Commission finds that by acknowledging
that Petitioner had not fully healed from the inifial accident when he released him Dr. Li
testimony was actually more persuasive rather than less persuasive. :

The Commission also notes that the only FCE, taken in January 2015, evaluated him as
unable to return to his previous job and there was no FCE performed after Petitioner completed
work hardening. Finally, the Commission aiso finds relevant the fact that Petitioner was never
symptom free after his initial surgery. He complained of continued pain throughout his physical
therapy and work hardening, Petitioner testified he still had pain and weakness when he returned
to work, and that he returned because he was released to work not necessarily because he feit
ready to return to work. '

This case is similar to that of Vogel v. Hogan Plumbing, 03 L1.C. 743, (fled October 22,
2003). There, the case was remanded to the Commission by order of the “Circuit Court of
DuPage County entefed October 7, 2002, which found that the aute acéident on June 9, 1999 and
subsequent accidents did not break the chain of causation between Petitioner’s July 10, 1998 -
work accident and the pseudoarthrosis in that the work and auto accidents were concurrent .
causes of that pseudoarthrosis. The Circuit Court further remanded to the Commission to enter
an award of medical and temporary total disability bepefits.” Complying with the remand order
in Vogel, the Commission assessed such benefits against the employer.

Therefore, even if the Commission accepts the Arbitrator’s conclusion that all the
accidents are concurrent causes of Petifioner’s condition of ill-being, that finding in itself would -
not be sufficient for the stbsequent accidents to become intervening accidents thereby breaking
fhe chain of causation from the initial accident on June 16, 2014, Therefore, the Commission
finds that throughout the period relevant 1o these proceedings Petitioner’s condition of ifl-being
of his right shoulder relates back to his initial accident on June 16, 2014. | )
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Accordingly, the Conumission finds that Respondent, Par Electrie, is responsible for all
medical expenses and benefits arising out of Petitioner’s right shoulder condition. By separate
Decisions, the Commission reverses the Decisions of the Arbitrator in 15WC19322 and
15WC19323; finding therein that Petitioner did not prove the respective accidents on April 1, -
2015 and April 3, 2015 were intervening accidents causing his current condition of ill-being and
denying compensation in those elaims.

IT-S THEREFORE-ORDERED BY-THE COMMISSION, that Respondent pay to - -
Petitioner the sum of $733.33 per week for a period of 61&1/7 weeks, that being the period of
temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION thai Respondent pay all medical
expenses thus far incurred for treatment of Petitioner’s right shoulder under §8(a) of the Act
pursuant to the applicable medical fee schedule.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMMISSION, that Respondent authorize and
pay for all prospective treatment for Petitioner’s right shoulder recommended by Dr. Li.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arhitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latier of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed. o

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Aci, if any.

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION thiat Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

‘Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent, Par Electric, is
hereby fixed at the sum of $75,000.00. The party commencing the proceeding for review in the
Circuit Court shall file with the Comumission a Netice of Infent to File for Review in the Clronit,
Court.

DATED:  OCT 2 § 3015 M & bt BRI
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) ] imjured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d})
JSS. [ | Rate Adjastment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF MCLEAN 3 » [ ] second Injury Fund (3(2)18)
’ @ None of'the above
ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARRITRATION DECISION
19 (B)
—DALLASHAMM-—— — e Case#14WCHTISQ o —
Empioyes/Petiioner
v.
Consolidated cases: 15 WC 19322, 13 W 19323
PAR ELECTRIC

EmployverRespondent

An Application for Adfusiment of Claim was filed in this matier, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each party. The
atter was heard by the Honorable Arbitrator McCarthy, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of Bloomington on
December 22, 2015.  After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on the dispufed
iveues checked below, and atiaches those findings to this document.

DiSPUTED ISSUES

Al B Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Hlinols Workers' Compensation or Oecupational Diseases
Act?

B. E] Was there an employee-emplayer relationship?

C D Did an accident oceur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

D. L__] What was the date of the accident?

E. _D'Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being caisalty related to the injury?

G. E] What were Petitioner's 'em?

H D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

I. D What was Petitioner’s marital status at the time of the accident?

I Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent paid all
appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. Is Petitioner entitled {o any prospective medical care?
L. @ What ternporary benefifs arg in dispote?

D TED D Maintenance TTD
M. DiSﬁ{fuki penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. Is Respondent due any credit?

o. []__
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On the date of accident, June 16, 2014, Respondent was operating under and subject1o the provisions of the Act.

Findings

E-arﬁ =)

On this date, an employee-etmployer refationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

O this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

P{f_?_r_fmner’sﬂgurrem__Eqn‘ditiqnff ii-being is causally ral@tﬁd to the accident.

I the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned 83 ?.EG{}:{:)GF, t‘hé-if“:yerag;;géﬂy %agc was$i§ £0.00.

On the date of aceident, Petitioner was _31_years of age, married , with 1_ children under 18.

Petitioner is eatitiad to TTD benefits for the period of September 26, 2014 fo March 11, 2015,

Respondent has paid all reasonable and necessary charges. for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respongent shall be given & credit of $17.390.40 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $19.885.37 for

e

other benefits, for a total credit of $37.275.77.

ORDER

This case proceeded pursuant. o Sections 8(a) and 15(b) of the Act. The parties agree that no claims for PPD are being
made at this time. _

For the reasons set forth in the attachment to this Arhitration Decision, the Arbitrator finds that Petlitioner has proven that
his current cohdition is causally related fo the alleged accident, as well as the accidents proven in the companion cases, 15
WC 19322 and 15 WU 19323, For the reasons set forth, the Arbitrator also finds the Respondent Par Electric not
responsible for payment of medical treatment-from April 3, 2015 through the date of arbitration, as well as TTD benefits
for the same period of time.-

The Atbitrator finds that Petitioner is entitled to TTD benefits for the period of September 26, 2014 o March 11, 2015,
and for medical bills incurred prior to March 11, 2015 Petitioner is not entitled to-any TID or medical expenses after
March 12, 2015 at Respondent’s expense. The Arbitvator finds that Respondent is entitled 1o a credit for $37,275.77 for
TTD and other benefits paid.

Tn 1o instance shall this award be-a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional ameunt of medical
‘benefits or compensation for a temporary of permanent disability, 1f any.

RuLES REGARDING APPEALS, Unless a Perition for Review is filed within 30 days after recaipt of this decision, and 2
review is perfected in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of the
Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest of at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall acerue from the date fisted below to the day before the date: of payment; however, if an
employes's appeal results in either no change ora decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

112413016

Sigratuire of Arbitralor Date

TEB 7 ~ 2018

o ArbDec] 90 p. 2
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FINDINGS OF FACT s FY PRy

The partics arbitrated three cases by consolidation. All of the alleged accidents invelve
the Petitioner’s right shoulder. The main jssue is causation. among the three accidents
with the Petitioner's injuries. The Arbitrator will use one Findings of Faet and
Conclusions of Law on the three claims,

Petitioner testified that he worked for the Local 51 Union as an electrical lineman. He
testified he was still an apprentice electrical lineman, but was almost finished with his
apprenticeship. He testified that his typical job duties included building lines, climbing
poles, digging holes, ete. He testified that his job essentially imvolved physical work.

Petitioner testified that he experienced an undisputed injury to his right shonlder on June
16, 2014 while working for Par Eleciric. He téstified that he went to get oif of a bucket
and stipped. He testified that he grabbed a bar and dislocated his right shoulder,

He then testified 1o his subsequent treatment with OSF St. Francis, OSF Qceupational
Medicine and with Dr. Li. He confitmed that he underwent surgery on September 26,
2014, followed by physical therapy and work hardening. (Px. 4, 3) He testified that as of
March 11, 2015, he was released to return to full duty work. (Px. 5) He testified that at
the tirne his shoulder was not 100% and that it was still weak and painful.

Significantly, Petitioner admitted that during physical therapy, his FCE and work
conditioning, he had no further dislocations to his right shoulder. He testified that in
between his full duty release and the time he started working for co-Respondent, Henkels
and McCoy, that he did not Have any further shoulder dislocations. He testified that there
were no recommendations for additional diagnostics such as an MRI. He festified that he
was not being referred for any additional invasive treatments such as surgery.

His medical records through March 11, 2015 confirm there were no further reports of
dislocations of recommendations for additional diagnostics or surgery. In fact, his
medical records through March 11, 9015 documeni decreased complaints of pain and
improved functional capabilities, which resulted in a release to retum to fult duty work on
March 11,2015, (Px. 5

Petitioner vas examined by Dr. George Paletta, an orthopedic surgeon, at Respondent Par
Electric’s request on February 16, 2015, which was prior to the two intervening accidents
of April 1 and 3, 2015, Dr. Paletta noted Petitioner had mild complaints with minimal
loss of range of motion, excellent strength and good stability. He recommended
additional work bardening followed by a return to full duty work. He .agreed that
Petitioner’s treatment throngh February 16, 2015 was reasonable, necessary and causally
related to the June 16, 2014 accident while working for Par Electric. (Rx. 1, Ex. 2)
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Petitioner testified that his medical benchits were approved by Par Electric through March
11, 2015 and that he was paid TTD benefits up until his full duty release on March 11,
2015 by Dr. L1 There are no disputes that Respondent, Par Electric, is responsible for the
payment of medical and TTD benefits through March 11, 2015 when Petitioner was
relcased at full duty by Dr. Li.

Petitioner testified that he gventually returned to work for eo-Respondent, Henkels and
MeCoy, as an apprentice lineman. He testified that he was performing the exaot same
type af work that he performed for Par Electric. .

Petitioner testified that he started working for Henkels and McCoy in late March 2015
and that he worked for seven days, from a Monday through Sunday. He testified that on
the first day that he was employed he underwent training. He testified that on the second
day he underwent a half day of trauning and worked a half day in the field. On that day,

which was Wednesday, he was working on the ground with electrical line, He testified

fhat he had a wide roll of electric tape and threw it up to other employees in a bucket. He
testified that his shoulder dislocated and that he was in a Tot of pain on April 1, 2015. He
testified that when he finished work, his shoulder was very sore but that he returned to
work on April 2, 2015, He testified that he engaged in limited use of the shoulder on that
date,

He also testified as to a subsequent accident that occurred on April 3, 2015 while he was
working for Henkels and McCoy. He testified that other employees in a bucket
approximately 12 feet off the cround needed a wire grip. He testified that he picked up
the wire grip and threw it upwards towards the other employees. He testified that he
again experienced another dislocation in his right shoulder with increased pain.

He testified that throwing tape ot grips to other employees is a normal part of his wotk
duties. He testified that on April 3, 2015 he finished work but was “babying”™ his
shoulder. He testified that he was also “babying” his shoulder during the remaining days
he worked for Henkels and McCoy.

Pefitioner testified that he experienced pain following the Aprl 1, 2015 shoulder
distocation while working for Henkels and McCoy. He testified that his pain was greater
than ‘what he had prior to working for Henkels and McCoy. He testified the same
regarding the April 3, 2015 incident. He testified that his pain following the Incidents
was greater than before either of the April 2015 incidents.

Petitioner testified that he had a regularly scheduled appointment with Dr. Li as a follow
up to his original accident:or Aptil 6. 2015, and he gave Dr. Li a history of what
happened to, him on April I and 3, 2015. He testified that Dr; Li recommended he
undergo another MRI and placed him on light duty work. Significantly, Petiticner

festified that he told Dr. Li that his shoulder hurt following the April 1 and 3 incidents.
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Petitioner testified that he then celled Jeremy, his general foreman at Henkels and
MeCoy, telling him that he had hurt his shoulder. He said he did not go inio detaii
because he thought the problerm was related to his original injury. He said that he was not
offered any light duty work.

The records of Dr. Li from April 6, 2013 document that Petitioner reported a history of
the two intervening accidents occurring on April 1 and 3, 2015. Petitioner reported
histories of the two accidents that were consistent with his testimopy af trial. Dr. Li's
records document that Petitioner had “two episodes which were concerning.” Based on
the report of the two incidents, Dr. Li referred Petitioner for an MR Arthirogram. (Px. 5

Petitioner underwent apother MRI on April 16, 2015, It was inferpreted to reveat a-
diffuse labral tear. (Px. 2),

Petifioner was. evatuated again by Dr. Paletfa at Respondent Par Electric’s request on
May 4, 2013, Dr. Paletta noted the history of the two intervening accidents on April 1 and
3, 2015. Petitionier reported to Dr. Paletta that prior to the April accidents “everything felt
great and I was doing great.” Petitioner reported that upon returning to work for a new
employer, co-Respondent Henkels and McCoy, he had two incidents that resulted in
recurrent problems with the right shoulder. The histories he provided of those two
incidents were consistent with his testimeny at Arbitration and the medical records of Dr.
Li. He reporied feeling that his shoulder dislocated during boih episodes with pain. {Rx.
1, Ex. 3).

Significantly, D, Paletta noted that Petitioner was reporting that his right shoulder as of
May 4, 2015, which was before he underwent an additional surgery in July 2013, felt the
same as it did following his June 2014 accident. Petitioner reported a sense of instability.
(Rx. 1, Ex, 3) This indicates a significant worsening of his right shouider condition
following the two April incidents while working for Henkels and MeCoy.

Dr. Paletfa reviewed the April 15, 2015 MR Arthrogram and agreed with Dr. Li’s
recommendation for surgery. However, Dr. Paletta opined that the need for additional
treatrpent and work restrictions was the result of the April 1 and 3, 2015 aceidents while
working for Henkels and McCoy. He felt that Petitioner had reached MMI as a result of
the June 16, 2014 aceident while working for Par Electric, but that two new accidents
while working for a new employer with a new objective injury in the form of a new labral
tear per Petiticner’s MR Arthrogram caused the nieed for Petitioner to undergo an
additional surgery.

Petitioner eventually underwent surgery performed by Dr. Li om July 8, 2015. He
underwent a right shoulder arthroscopy “with debridement and chondroplasty of the
hurneral head; arthroscopic repair of the anterior and anterior inferior labrum; repair of a
SLAP tear; biceps tenodesis; and removal of a loose anchor. {Px. 3)

Dr. Li documented the following in his operative report:

£
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“There was clearly an anterior and anterior inferior labral tear. | evaluated the site
of the previous repair and it was loose and I can see the dislocation bad caused
one of the anchors te pull loose.” (Px. 3} '

Dr. Li provided testimony via evidence deposition on July 27, 2015, {(Px. 6) Dr. Li
testified that he treated Petitioner for a fafl at work in June 2014 that resulted in a
dislocation. He testified that Petitioner’s history was that he dislocated and then relocated
the right shoulder in June 2014,, which resulted in “persistent pain and instability,” (Px.
6, p. 5)

Dr: Li noted that the inifial September 26, 2014 surgery revealed a Hill-Sachs deformity
and other pathology that placed Petitioner at increased risk for future right shoulder
dislocations. (Px. 6. p. 10) He testified that he was-able to accomplish what he wanted to
accomplish during the first September 26, 2014 surgery. (Px. 6, p. 11}

Dr. 1i admitted that following work conditioning Petitioner was “released from care to
retumn to work full duty,” on March 11, 2015, He confirmed Petitioner was “released
without restrictions.” (Px. 6, p. 12) He testified that Petitioner recovered in a typical
imeframe to return to full duty werk for the kind of injury he had on June 16, 2014 while
working for Par Electdc. (Px. 6, p. 13)

Dr. Li testified that Petitioner returned to see him after going to work for Henkels and
McCoy on Aprl 6, 2015 and reported a history of the two incidents occurring on April 1
and 3, 2015. (P%. 6, p. 14-15) He confirmed that he performed another surgery on July 8,
2015 to repair, among other things, 2 SLAP tear, which ke confirmed was the result of a
tear from “11 and 1 o’clock . . . on the clock face” versus the area that was previously
repaired from “2 to 6 o’clock™ during the September 2014 surgery. (Px. 6, p. 15) Dr. Li
testified that the SLAP tear was an extension of the prior labral tear that resulted from the
June 2014 accident while working for Par Electric, (Px. 6, p. 20),. and felt the new
extended tear was related to the September 2014 surgery and Petitioner’s incomplete
recovery from same. (Px. 6, p. 25)

He testified that the July 2015 surgery revealed Grade Il articular changes of the humeral
head that represented a “worsening” from the September 2014 surgery. Dr. Li testified
that some of the worsening was “sequelae” from the Junie-2014 injury, but also admitted
that there was “some additional injury from the second dislocation episode of Aprit 1,
2015. (Px. 6,p. 16) '

He testified that an anchor placed during the September 2014 surgery was found fo be
loose during the July 2015 surgery. He testified that “when [Petitioner] dislocated™ the
shoulder again in April 20135, Petitioner *pulled the anchor out of the bone.” (PX. 6, p.
18)
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Dr. Li was asked whether it was his opinior that the need for an additional surgery in Jaly
2015 was causally related to the June 2014 accident involving Par Electric or the April 1
and April 3, 2015 incidents involving Henkels and McCoy. Dr. Li testified thai the
“original surgery had not fully healed.” (Px. 6, p. 24) He testified that during the April
incidents tnvolving Henkels and McCoy, the throwing “actions caused ihe capsule to ~
well, the shoulder to dislecate and the capsule to pull away and the anchor to pull out.”
As a result, he causally related to need for the Taly 2015 surgery o “be a consequence of
the treatment from his first injury.” (Px. 6. p. 25}

Dr. Li opined that the preximity in dme between Petitioner’s September 2014 surgery,
his March 2015 full duty release, and the recument dislocations fn April 2015 also
provided him with a basis to causally relate the aced for additional surgery to the June
2014 accident. (Px. 6, . 26}

On cross-examination, Dr. Li admitted the following:

e That Petifioner did not have a SLAP tear extending from 11 and 1 o’clock as a
resalt of the Juna 2014 accident or nofed during the September 2014 surgery. (PX.
6, p.27. 28);

e That the SLAP iear was an extension of the prier labral tear “as a result of [the]
two incidents that [Petitioner] described [as] throwing the tape and throwing the
grip.” (Px. 6, p.27);

« That but for the April 1 and April' 3 incidents while working for Henkels and
MeCoy, which resulted in dislocations, Petitioner would not have experienced a
pew SLAP tear. (Px. 6, p.28);

« That he used two new afichors during the July 2015 surgery to replace two
anchors. (Px. 6, p. 29);

o That the tear from the June 2014 injury “did not extend as high as what would be
required to perform a biceps tenodesis,” (Px. 6, 1.29), a provedure the Arbitrator
notes was performed during the July 2015 surgery. (Px.3);.

¢ That there were new findings of lesions on the glenoid and humeral head during
the July 2015 surgery that were not present per Dr. Li during the Septerber 2014
surgery. (Px. 6, p. 30-31);

« That he was not concerned with 4 “littlé loss of range of motion” when he decided
to release Petitioner back to full duty work on March 11, 2015, {Px, 6, 1. 36);

s That there were “some findings in the second surgery that weren’t present in the
first surgery.” (Px. 6, p. 39);
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e That the re-disfocation of April 2015 “pulled out the anchor that was inserted to
repair the labrum that was put in as a result of the original injury.” (Px. &, p. 39).

¢ That if Petitioner did not have the April in¢idents involving re-dislocations, Dr. Li
would not have needed to perform the July 2015 surgery. (Px. &, p. 42); and

s That he testified “of conrse [Petitioner] did,” when asked whether Petitioner *had
another dislocation or another accident resulting in the need For further surgery.”
{(Px. 6, p.42)

Dr. Paletta provided testimony via evidence depesition on Octeber 1, 2015 and
Novermber 19, 2015. On October 1, 2015, during direct examination, Dr. Paletta initially
testified consistent with.his narrative reports prepared following his February 16 and May
4, 2015 examinations. (Rx, 1)

Dr. Paletta testilied that Petitioner reported a history of two incidents occurring on April
1 and 3, 2015, which fnvolved over hand throwing motions. He testified that the act of
throwing a roll of electrical tape or a grip would not be considered an ordinary act of
everyday living. (Rx. 1, p. 12-14) Dr. Paletta testified that Petitioner reporfed a history on
May 4, 2015 of pain in the shoulder that was “identical to the pain he was experiencing
prior to the” September 2014 surgery. (Bx. 1, p. 14}

Dr. Paletts testified that at the time of his second cvaluation of the Petitioner on May 4,
2015 he had the tecent April 16, 2015 MR Arthrogram and treatment notes of Dr. Li
{Rx. 1, p. 14) He testified that his review of the April 2015 MR Arthrogram revealed a
new labral tear that éxtended beyond the area that was previously repaired. (Rx. 1, p. 15)
He festitied Petitioner had a Superior Labram Anterior to Posterior (SLAP) tear that was
not present during the original September 2014 surgery, (Rx. 1, p. 16)

Dr. Paletta initislly testified it was his opinion that Petitioner experienced new accidents
on April 1 and 3, 2015, which resulted in the need for Petitioner to undergo additional
treatment. (Rx. 1, p. 17) He testified Petitioner experienced a new tear of the labrum. (Rx.
1, p. 16) He testified the throwing incidents were a competent cause for a SLAP tear. (Rx.
1, p. 17) He testified he was in agreement with Dr. Li’s recommendation for additional
surgery. {Rx. 1,p. 18)

Dr. Paletta testified it made no difference with respect to his opinions regarding causation:
whether or not Petitioner was formally placed at MMI by Dr. Li before he was released to
full duty work or before the April incidents while working for Herkels and McCoy. (Bx,
1, p. 19-20)

Dr. Paletta testified that the status of Petitioner’s riglt shoulder changed after the April 1
and 3, 2015 incidents with the development of a new SLAP tear, {(Rx. 1, p. 21} He
testified that Petitioner symptoms changed after the Aprii 1 aad 3 incidents where
Petitioner reporied increased instability and pain after the April incidents. (Rx. 1, p. 21-
22) He testified that the April incidents required more. extensive testing and freatment.
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‘Finally, he testified that the April incidents changed Petitioner ability to work full dyty.
{Rx. 1. p. 22)

Dr. Paletta was then asked abont Dr. Li’s opinions regarding causation. Dr. Paleffa was
informed that Petioner had undergone an additional surgery in July 2015 and was
advised that Dr. Li partially based his causation opinions on the finding of a loose anchor.
(Rx. 1, p. 22-23) Dr. Paleita was not aware prior to the October 1, 2015 deposition that
Petitioner had undergone another surgery in July 2015. He did not have an opportunity 1o
review the operalive report prior to or during the deposition of October 1, 2013, (Bx. 1, p.
23-24%

Dr. Paletta reviewed some of Dr. Lis testimony and testified that “there is the suggestion
that there was in fact not complete healing of the first labral tear, that there was failure of
one of the anchors, and that an area of the labrum that had been previously repaired was
not healed, and that the tear, the riew tear exfended from that area of the Tabrum
upwards.” Based on same. he opined that the need for the July 2015 surgery was possibly
the result of an incomplete healing of the September 2014 repair. (Rx..1, p. 25) However,
he also testified that while his opinions had changed based on Dr. Li's deposition
testimonv. he did not have *fall information” including arthroscopv pictures and
the sperative report. (Rx. 1, p. 26-27)

Following the deposition, Dr. Paleita was provided with the operative report and
arthroscopy pictures by couase] for Par Electric and Dr. Paletta was asked to prepare a
nrrative report commenting on same. His report was prepared on October 9, 2015. (Rx.
2,Ex. I).

Following his review of the previously unavailable documentation, Dr. Paletta opined
that *the necessity of the second surgery was related to the two new incidences [of April
2015] causing the need for additional surgery.” He noted that Petitioner had returned to
full duty work and that at the time of that release there was “no evidence of any failure of
the [September 2014] repair.” He opined that the “arthroscopy photographs documented
what appeared to be a traumatic failure of the proxima! portion of the prior labral repair,”
with a failure of an anchor.” He opined that anchor failures typically ovcur as a result of
trauma. (Rx. 2, Ex. 1)

He opined that there was a progression of the prior labral fear to involve a new portion of
the labrum and that therefore Petitioner experienced a traumatic labral tear from the April
incidents. He opined, similar to Dr. Li, that *if those two throwing incidences had never
ocourred . . . it [was] unlikely that the first surgery wouldl have failed as a result of the
loosened anchor.” He opined that the loosened anchor was not inevitable, He noted it
would be uncommon for an anchor to loosen as a result of normal activities of everyday
living, and that there was no evidence to indicate a loosening before the April incidents.
(R 2,Bx. 1)

He provided tesfimony again via evidence deposition on November 19, 2015. (Rx. 2)
Both Petitioner’s attorney and counsel for Henkels and McCoy objected to additional

|'.J
3

sy

£




O-Dex On-Line
www, gdex. com

oo ey

15

F  Esd
A L ]
A dE e’

testimony from Dr, Paletta, but did not cite fo any relevant authonty for why Dr. Palenia’s
deposition testimony could not be re~taken. Whether to allow the re-deposition of Dr.
Paletta is within the arbitraior’s discretion, see Janda v, U.S. Cellular Corp., 356 TlLDec.
329 (2011), and the arbitrator finds the deposition testimony of Dr. Paletta from
November 19, 2015 to be admissible based on the fact that Dr. Paletta did not have
complete information or documentation at his initial deposition in October 2015.

Dr. Paletta testified that he reviewed the operative report and arthroscopic photos. He
testified comsistent with his narrative report dated October 9, 2015, (Rx. 2, Ex. 1) He
testified that Dr. 1 himself noted in his operative report that “the site of the previous
repair . . . was loose and I could see that the dislocation had caused ane of the anchors o
pull loose.” (Rx. 2, p. B) :

He was asked why his apinim:ts had changed again. Dr. Paletta testified as follows:

“Because the operative report clearty documented that there was a new area of the
iabfum that was involved with the tear that was not present previously . . . That
clearly demonsirates there was niew injury to an area that had previously beén
normal. In addition, Dr. Li's impression was, from the time of surgery, that the
previous repair was now loose and that the anchor was loose asa consequehce of
the dislocation episodes. Those factors taken together in addition to the review of
ihe arfhroscopy photos allows me to conclude within & reasonable degree of
medical certainty it is my opinion that the need for the additional surgery was a
result of those two incidents that cccurred while throwing.” (Rx. 2, p. 11}

“The issue that was notable on the operative report and the arthroscopy
photographs from the second surgery had to do with the loose anchor. Typically,
anchors fail, in my experience, as a resu't of trauma. If they fail Tor any other
reason, there's typically evidence of . . . what we call esteolysis where the anchor
then bacomes loose, and there was no evidence of that . . . at the time. of [the July
2015] surgery. So it is highly unusual, in my opinion, for anchors to ceme loose
on their own unless there’s significant trauma that causes the anchor to fail or
there’s come reaction 1o the anchor that causes lysis of the bone.” (Rx. 2, p. 11~
12) )

“This gentleman had made a full recovery. He had retumed to full duty. Dr. Li
bad not documented any residual signs or symptoms of instability at the time that
he released him. And by the patient’s own admission when I took his history, he
was. doing well up until those two incidents. So he had two distinct incidents with
surgically documented evidence of a new portion of the labrum forn and
surgieally documented evidence of Toosening of the previous repair. Those are the
factors that say 1o me he clearly had a new injury and that this injury extended to
anew part of the Jabrum and resulted in failure of the previous repair.” {(Rx. 2, p.
14y -
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On cross examination, Dr. Palefta admitted that the operative report findings and
not the arthroscopy photos caused his opinions i change with respect to the loose
anchor. He did however say that the new SLAP tear was visible in the photos, and the
tear was not present during the first surgery. (1d at 19-20). Dr. Paletta also testified, in
agreement with Dr. Li, that if the April 2015 throwing incidents had not occurred, the
Petifioner’s Septamber 2014 labral repair would not have failed. (Rx. 2, p. 15)

BN

Petitioner testified that he continues fo undergo postoperative care with Dr. Li,
(Px. 8), and there are no genuine disputes refated to the reasonableness and necessity of
same, The primary issue in dispute is who is Hable for the medical treatment and off work
benefits incurred after March 11, 2015 — Par Electric or Henkels and McCoy.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

(F, ¥, L) Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related fo the
injury? I Pefitioper emtitled fo prespective medical care? Is
Petitioner entitied to TTD bencfits?

The Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner’s current condition is causally related to all three
of the accidents which are the subject of these three consolidated claims. However, the
Arhitrator also feels that the surgery of July 8, 2015 and the subsequent treatment and [ost
time from work is causally related to the Petitioner’s two accidents at Henkel's and
MeCoy, and that Respondent is responsible for payment of those benefits.

First of all, the Petitioner’s current condition is a fight shoulder post two labral tears, one
of which occurred in Fune 2014 and the other in April 2015. The Petitioner testified that
when he was released by Dr. Li from his first conrse of treatment in March 2015, he still
had weakness and pain in the shoulder. His testimony is consistent with the medical
evidence. Afier three months of post surgical physical therapy, the Petitioner reported &
nagging pain in the front of the shoulder and showed a mild deficit in flexion. (PX 5; 1-
16-15) At his FCE two days later he was found to have significant right shouider pain
lifting 45 pounds, and found to be limited to work at the medium demand level. (Id)
After an additional two months of work hardening, he was found on March 10, 2015 to
have decreased strength with abduction. (Id) While Dr. L1 did return hird to full duty
work, he testified that his original injury had not fully healed. (PX 6 at 24)

Certainly the Petitioner can pursue additional compensation for permanency from his first
accident against Par Electric in a later proceeding.

Henkel’s and McCoy are responsible for the second surgery and follow up care. The
events which occurred on April 1 and 3 were shown to represent accidents arising out of
his employment. Throwing rolled tape and wire cufters a fair distance to co-workers on
the jobsite afe not activities which create risks of injury equal to those experienced by
members of the general public. They are employment risks, The resulted in classic
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aggravations of the Pefitioner’s pre-existing condition, causaily related to the subsequent
care, :

Dr. Li testified that the initial imjury made the Petitioner more prone to future
dislocaiions. The Petitioner iestified that, while he did not experience any dislocations
after his first surgery while in therapy, work hardening or taking the FCE, he did
experience dislocations throwing the items at work. Dr. Li said that these dislocations
cattsed abrasions fo his humeral head, a tear in a different section of the labrum and a
loosening of one of the anchors he’d placed in the shoulder to repair the original labral
tear. (PX 6 at'15, 17, 27) Dr. Paletta agreed in his testimony. (RX1 at 16-20; RX 2 at 10-
11y

Henkel’s and McCoy argue that the only reason that the Petitioner's arm dislocated on
two occasions in April was because the anchor from the first surgery had not healed. Dr.
Li seems fo support their theory in his testimony, explaining that if more time had elapsed
after the first surgery, the more likely one could conclude the shoulder had healed. (Id at
26) The Arbitrator does not find this persuasive. If April 2015 was not a sufficient
amount of time for the anchors to heal from surgery performed over six months earlier,
then why would Dr. Li have released the Petitioner to return to full duty electrical work?
Why would not the shoulder have dislocated while the Petitioner was performing
phrysical therapy and work hardening, or when performing an FCE?

Dr, Paletia was more persuasive. He said that the typical reason anchors fail was because
of trauma. If not the result of traurna, there would be osteolysis, or resorption of the bone
arcund the anchor. He noted that no such finding was referenced by Dr. Li in his
operative report. (RX 2 af 12) Furthermore, he noted Dr. Li’s own statement in the
operative report that the “dislocation caused one of the anchors to pull loose.” (PX 3)

In addition, Petitioner's symptoms changed by his own admission and based on his
admissions to Drs. i and Paletta. The Arbitrator notes above that Petitioner reported
increased pain following the throwing incidents. Petitioner also admitted to Dr. Paletta
that he felt increased instability following the April 2015 dislocations resulting from the
throwing incidents, and that he felt his shoulder had retumed to a condition it was at
before he underwent the September 2014 surgery.

Also, there was a clear change in pathology following the April 2015 throwing incidents
as documented in the récords of Dr. Li, petitioner’s April 2015 MR- Arthrogram, his July
2015 operative report, and confirmed by the review of Dr. Paletta. Petitioner had a new
labral tear, new adhesions, and a loosened anchor, all of which were not present at the
time of his September 2014 surgery.

There was also no recommendation for surgery before the April 2015 incidents. There is
no indication in the records that Dr. Li contenplated that Petitioner would ever need to
undergo another shoulder surgery. Therefore, this factor weighs strongly in favor of
finding Petitioner experienced intervening accidents while working for Henkels and
McCoy.
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Finally, he was able to work full duty before the April 2015 incidents per Dr. Li.
Following the dislocating throwing incidents of April 1 and 3, 2015 Pefitioner was placed
on restricted work.

Based on the foregoing, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’'s accidents on April 1 and 3,
2013, aend not the accidents of June 16, 2014, are causally related 10 the need for
treatment and need for subsequent TTD benefits. Petitioner is therefore not entitled to any
medical or TTD benefits at Respondent Par Electric's expense after March 11, 2015.
Petitioner is entitled o TTD benefits from Henkels and McCov from April 6, 2015
through December 22, 2015, the date of arbitration.

For the reasens stated above, the Arbitrator finds the medical treatment since Apnil 3,
2015 to be causally related to the Petitioner’s accidents at Henkels and McCoy. They are
responsible for payment 6f the ensuing medical bills, as well as the Petifioner’s ongoing
treatment, which now consists of physical therapy.

{C; E) Did accidents occur on April 1 and 3, 2015 arising out of the Petitioner’s
employment and did the Petitioner provide potice {0 the Respondent?

For the reasons stated above on the discussion on causation, the Arbitrators finds the
Pétitioner did sustain accidents arising out of his employment with Henkels and McCoy
on the two dates alleged.

The Arbitrator also finds the Respondent had sufficient notice of said accidents within the
time required by statute. The Petitioner’s testimony that he called his foreman, Jeremy,
soon after he saw Dr, Li on April 6, at which time he was given work restrictions,
constituted notice. He said that he told Jeremy that he had hust his shoulder and gave him
the restrictions. His testimony was not rebutted.
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